
City of Capitola Page 1 Updated 7/11/2019 4:02 PM  

 

AGENDA 

CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION 
Thursday, July 18, 2019 – 7:00 PM 

 Chairperson TJ Welch 

 Commissioners Courtney Christiansen 

  Ed Newman 

  

 

Mick Routh 

Peter Wilk 

   

1. ROLL CALL AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

2. ORAL COMMUNICATIONS 

A. Additions and Deletions to Agenda 

B. Public Comments 

Short communications from the public concerning matters not on the Agenda.  
All speakers are requested to print their name on the sign-in sheet located at the podium so that their 
name may be accurately recorded in the Minutes. 

C. Commission Comments 

D. Staff Comments 

3. PRESENTATIONS 

A. Administrative Policy on Social Media Use by City Council and Advisory Body 
Members   

 

4. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

A. Planning Commission - Regular Meeting - Jun 6, 2019 7:00 PM 
 

5. CONSENT CALENDAR 

All matters listed under “Consent Calendar” are considered by the Planning Commission to be routine 
and will be enacted by one motion in the form listed below.  There will be no separate discussion on these 
items prior to the time the Planning Commission votes on the action unless members of the public or the 
Planning Commission request specific items to be discussed for separate review.  Items pulled for 
separate discussion will be considered in the order listed on the Agenda. 

 
A. 2195 41st Avenue   #19-0219   APN: 034-192-10 

Sign Permit for a monument sign with new digital changeable copy for gasoline pricing for 
the 76 Gas Station located within the C-R (Regional Commercial) zoning district. 
This project is not in the Coastal Zone and does not require a Coastal Development Permit. 
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption 
Property Owner: Gawfco Enterprises, Inc. 
Representative: Sign Development, Inc., Filed: 05.07.19 

 
 



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA – July 18, 2019 2 
 

 

6. PUBLIC HEARINGS 

Public Hearings are intended to provide an opportunity for public discussion of each item listed as a 
Public Hearing.  The following procedure is as follows:  1) Staff Presentation; 2) Public Discussion; 3) 
Planning Commission Comments; 4) Close public portion of the Hearing; 5) Planning Commission 
Discussion; and 6) Decision. 

 
A. 511 Escalona Drive   #19-0165   APN: 036-125-02 

Design Permit for a second-story addition to an existing single-family residence, 
an internal Secondary Dwelling Unit, and a Major Revocable Encroachment 
Permit for a fence in the public right of way located within the R-1 (Single-Family) 
zoning district.  
This project is in the Coastal Zone and requires a Coastal Development Permit which is 
appealable to the California Coastal Commission after all possible appeals are exhausted 
through the City.  
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption 
Property Owner: Christine Meserve 
Representative: Valerie Hart, Filed: 04.10.2019 

 

7. DIRECTOR'S REPORT 

8. COMMISSION COMMUNICATIONS 

9. ADJOURNMENT 



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA – July 18, 2019 3 
 

 

APPEALS:  The following decisions of the Planning Commission can be appealed to the City Council 

within the (10) calendar days following the date of the Commission action:  Conditional Use Permit, 

Variance, and Coastal Permit.  The decision of the Planning Commission pertaining to an Architectural 

and Site Review Design Permit can be appealed to the City Council within the (10) working days following 

the date of the Commission action.  If the tenth day falls on a weekend or holiday, the appeal period is 

extended to the next business day. 
 

All appeals must be in writing, setting forth the nature of the action and the basis upon which the action is 

considered to be in error, and addressed to the City Council in care of the City Clerk.  An appeal must be 

accompanied by a five hundred dollar ($500) filing fee, unless the item involves a Coastal Permit that is 

appealable to the Coastal Commission, in which case there is no fee.  If you challenge a decision of the 

Planning Commission in court, you may be limited to raising only those issues you or someone else 

raised at the public hearing described in this agenda, or in written correspondence delivered to the City 

at, or prior to, the public hearing. 
 

Notice regarding Planning Commission meetings:  The Planning Commission meets regularly on the 

1st Thursday of each month at 7 p.m. in the City Hall Council Chambers located at 420 Capitola Avenue, 

Capitola. 
 

Agenda and Agenda Packet Materials:  The Planning Commission Agenda and complete Agenda 

Packet are available on the Internet at the City's website:  www.cityofcapitola.org.  Need more 

information?  Contact the Community Development Department at (831) 475-7300. 
 

Agenda Materials Distributed after Distribution of the Agenda Packet:  Materials that are a public 

record under Government Code § 54957.5(A) and that relate to an agenda item of a regular meeting of 

the Planning Commission that are distributed to a majority of all the members of the Planning 

Commission more than 72 hours prior to that meeting shall be available for public inspection at City Hall 

located at 420 Capitola Avenue, Capitola, during normal business hours. 
 

Americans with Disabilities Act:  Disability-related aids or services are available to enable persons with 

a disability to participate in this meeting consistent with the Federal Americans with Disabilities Act of 

1990.  Assisted listening devices are available for individuals with hearing impairments at the meeting in 

the City Council Chambers.  Should you require special accommodations to participate in the meeting 

due to a disability, please contact the Community Development Department at least 24 hours in advance 

of the meeting at (831) 475-7300.  In an effort to accommodate individuals with environmental 

sensitivities, attendees are requested to refrain from wearing perfumes and other scented products. 
 

Televised Meetings:  Planning Commission meetings are cablecast "Live" on Charter Communications 

Cable TV Channel 8 and are recorded to be replayed on the following Monday and Friday at 1:00 p.m. on 

Charter Channel 71 and Comcast Channel 25.  Meetings can also be viewed from the City's website:  

www.cityofcapitola.org. 

http://www.cityofcapitola.org/
http://www.cityofcapitola.org/


 

 

 
 

S T A F F  R E P O R T  

 
TO:  PLANNING COMMISSION 
 
FROM:  COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 
DATE: JULY 18, 2019 
 
SUBJECT: Administrative Policy on Social Media Use By City Counicl and Advisory 
Body Members     
 
 
BACKGROUND: In May 2019, the Community Development Department received a request to 

draft a policy regarding appointed officials and their use of social media, specifically for the 

benefit of the City of Capitola Planning Commission. Upon review, City staff recognized the 

need for a policy that all elected and appointed officials could follow.  In researching policies 

already in existence for other jurisdictions, it became apparent that most of these policies focus 

only on potential Brown Act violations that are likely to be caused by council member or 

commissioner interactions on online media, and that a broader policy that outlines social media 

best practices would be helpful for Capitola elected and appointed officials.  

In 2007, administrative policy V-8 “Councilmember Online Forums/Web Logs (“Blogs”) was 

approved by Capitola City Council (Attachment 2). The proposed Elected and Appointed 

Official’s Use of Social Media Policy expands upon the older one and covers the same points 

while providing further direction and more in-depth discussion of all online engagement.  

On June 27, 2019, the City Council approved draft policy I-18 (Attachment 1) and revoked policy 

V-8.  

 

DISCUSSION: California places a high value on transparency in local government and has 

enacted many laws related to conducting the public’s business in open meetings. The best 

known of these is the Brown Act. While social media can provide the opportunity to expand 

outreach and discussion of important topics, those in positions to advise and make decisions 

must take care to respect the public hearing process.  

The Elected and Appointed Official’s Use of Social Media Policy explains the different ways that 

City of Capitola officials who are subject to the Brown Act may use and engage with social 

media, and the best practices of doing so. Outcomes of all such engagement are also 

presented, so that council, committee, and commission members may make mindful decisions 

when posting on social media. The difference between quasi-judicial and legislative decisions, 

and the importance of remaining a neutral and unbiased decision-maker when voting on quasi-

judicial matters, is explained.  Potential violations of the Brown Act are also clarified along with 

the importance of disclosing any ex-parte communication for the public record.   

A chart that provides a clear framework for the different types of social media engagement, 

3.A

Packet Pg. 4



 
 

 

along with the direct outcome of that action, is included for all elected/appointed officials and 

committee members subject to the Brown Act as guidelines for using social media.  

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Accept presentation on policy I-18 Elected and Appointed Official’s 
Use of Social Media Policy.  
 
 
ATTACHMENTS:  

1. I-18 Council & Committee Use of Social Media 
2. V-8 Councilmember On-Line Forums Web Logs (Blogs) 

 
Prepared By: Katie Herlihy 
  Community Development Director 

3.A

Packet Pg. 5



 

 

   ADMINISTRATIVE POLICY 

 

Number: I-18 

Issued: June 27, 2019 

Jurisdiction: City Council 

 

ELECTED/APPOINTED OFFICIALS & SOCIAL MEDIA  

 

I. PURPOSE  

The purpose of this policy is to provide guidance for the appropriate use of social media by 

elected and appointed City of Capitola officials, and members of City committees subject to 

the Brown Act. The policy will also outline the proper response if elected/appointed officials 

and Brown Act committee members use social media inconsistently with this policy.  

 

The First Amendment of the United States’ Constitution defines every citizens’ freedom of 

religion, speech, press, assembly, and petition. Under this amendment, the exercise of free 

speech, including on social media outlets, is protected. All Capitola Officials are entitled to 

this right, and this policy does not revoke it. 

 

II. DEFINITIONS  

A. Social Media: an online forum or communication tool that enables individuals to 

create online communities to share information, messages, images and other 

content.  

B. Quasi-Judicial/Administrative Decisions: “occurs when a) a hearing is held to 

apply a rule or standard to an individual person, project or circumstance; c) it 

involves the taking of evidence; d) it results in the rendering or a written decision 

issued by the hearing officer or tribunal (including adoption of findings); and e) the 

written decision is based on the facts and arguments submitted at the hearing”. 

These types of hearings affect individual properties or parties. 

1. Examples: Planning Commission decisions on project applications  

C. Legislative Decisions: Actions include “adoption and amendments to municipal 

codes, general plans, zoning codes, and personnel regulations”. These types of 

hearings establish public policy and rules that apply to groups of property or 

people.  

1. Examples: Zoning Code updates, Ordinance adoption, changes in policy, 

approval of the budget, etc.  

D. Ex-Parte Communication: any material or substantive oral or written 

communication with a decisionmaker that is relevant to the merits of an 

adjudicatory proceeding, and which takes place outside of a noticed proceeding 

open to all parties to the matter (Gov. Code 11430.10) 

 

III. SOCIAL MEDIA USE 

Utilizing social media outlets can be useful for elected/appointed officials to engage with the 

public and present City information. For the purposes of this policy, a social media post 

includes the creation of any content; either new or linked to another’s, on all social media 

3.A.1

Packet Pg. 6

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 I-

18
 C

o
u

n
ci

l &
 C

o
m

m
it

te
e 

U
se

 o
f 

S
o

ci
al

 M
ed

ia
 [

R
ev

is
io

n
 1

] 
 (

A
d

m
in

is
tr

at
iv

e 
P

o
lic

y 
o

n
 S

o
ci

al
 M

ed
ia

 U
se

 B
y 

C
it

y 
C

o
u

n
ic

l a
n

d



 

 

platforms. This includes and is not limited to; information posted on your own social media 

account in picture or text form, commenting on other posts, re-posting or sharing content by 

other social media users, liking other’s posts, etc. Regardless of username, elected and 

appointed officials are accountable for their online behavior. Social Media Accounts under 

private names or dissociated from the City could still come under scrutiny if they are run by an 

elected or appointed official. For example, Facebook accounts with usernames “Jane Doe” and 

“Mayor Jane Doe” should both be managed in accordance with this policy. This policy will 

outline the best practices that should be considered so that all Officials use social media 

expression in positive ways and avoid potential liability for the City or themselves.  

  

IV. BEST PRACTICES WHEN POSTING ON SOCIAL MEDIA 

The chart below (section VII) is designed for easy reference to demonstrate the different levels 

of appropriate and inappropriate social media engagement. Consequences of writing and 

posting certain types of content are simply stated in the second row, so that Officials 

understand their responsibilities after engaging in such types of social media engagement. As 

an elected or appointed official, you will be called upon to render decisions that affect the City 

of Capitola, and it is important to remain mindful of how online communication regarding 

these decisions will be perceived. Because the type of decisions (quasi-judicial vs. legislative) 

varies, their content type should be considered when posting about them on social media.  

A. Keep it Neutral: Use caution when expressing yourself online. This is a permanent, 

public record that may preserve your thoughts on a subject that ends up coming in 

front of the City for a decision. Neutrality can be the easiest way to avoid later recusal 

and preserve your reputation as an impartial, unbiased decision maker.    

B. Keep it Equal: Treat City Business in a similar way online. This is another way to 

preserve your neutrality for future decisions.    

 

V. POSTING ON SOCIAL MEDIA 

Particularly when related to quasi-judicial decisions, social media content posted by elected or 

appointed officials can be problematic. Online conversation can also easily lead to Brown Act 

Violations.   

A. Showing Bias on Quasi-Judicial Hearings: Elected and appointed officials are 

obligated to remain neutral and unbiased regarding quasi-judicial matters prior to 

their vote on the matter. Officials should use caution when expressing themselves, 

in all types of communication including on social media outlets, to remain 

unbiased.  

B. Using Social Media to Gage Public Opinion:  Communicating online about specific 

upcoming City decisions may result in valuable resources such as public opinion 

and community input, which then is left out the public record unless action is taken 

to disclose it. Purposefully gathering information on quasi-judicial decisions prior 

to their respective public hearings negates the inherent neutrality of a public 

hearing; where all information is heard at one time and decisions are made based 

upon the facts and opinions presented in that public forum.  

C. Conversing with Other Officials Online: The Brown Act dictates much of elected 

and appointed officials’ behavior both during and outside of public meetings. 

Online conversation between multiple elected and appointed officials should not 

relate to quasi-judicial matters.   

3.A.1

Packet Pg. 7

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 I-

18
 C

o
u

n
ci

l &
 C

o
m

m
it

te
e 

U
se

 o
f 

S
o

ci
al

 M
ed

ia
 [

R
ev

is
io

n
 1

] 
 (

A
d

m
in

is
tr

at
iv

e 
P

o
lic

y 
o

n
 S

o
ci

al
 M

ed
ia

 U
se

 B
y 

C
it

y 
C

o
u

n
ic

l a
n

d



 

 

1. Ralph M. Brown Act & Serial Meetings: The general point of this California 

State Law is that “California legislature finds and declares that the public 

commissions, boards and councils and the other public agencies in this 

State exist to aid in the conduct of the people's business. It is the intent of 

the law that their actions be taken openly and that their deliberations be 

conducted openly." A serial meeting, expressly prohibited by the Brown 

Act, is when multiple members of Council or Committee engage in 

conversation regarding a quasi-judicial matter outside of a duly noticed 

public meeting. Serial Meetings can occur between elected or appointed 

officials when two or more comment, post, or engage in online conversation 

regarding City business. This type of social media use will put officials in 

violation of the Brown Act.  

 

VI. TYPES OF SOCIAL MEDIA POSTS 

 Acceptable  Potentially 

Acceptable 

Discouraged Against Policy 

Action • Sharing City-

created social 

media posts  

• Sharing content 

regarding 

legislative 

proceedings, City 

policy, budget and 

events  

• Posting self-

created content 

regarding 

legislative 

proceedings, City 

policy, budget and 

events 

 

• Sharing or posting 

content regarding 

quasi-judicial City 

matters in a 

consistent fashion.  

 

• Treating 

individual quasi-

judicial matters 

differently. For 

example, only 

sharing content 

related to selected 

development 

projects and not 

others. 

 

• Expressing 

personal opinions 

on quasi-judicial 

matters, prior to 

voting   

• Violations of the 

Brown Act  

 

Remedy • No additional 

action 

• Ex-parte 

Communications 

must be submitted 

to the City for 

inclusion in the 

record 

• Ex-parte 

Communications 

must be 

submitted to the 

City for inclusion 

in the record  

• Official may need 

to recuse from 

voting 

• Ex-parte 

Communications 

must be submitted 

to the City for 

inclusion in the 

record  

• Official must 

recuse from voting 

 

3.A.1

Packet Pg. 8

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 I-

18
 C

o
u

n
ci

l &
 C

o
m

m
it

te
e 

U
se

 o
f 

S
o

ci
al

 M
ed

ia
 [

R
ev

is
io

n
 1

] 
 (

A
d

m
in

is
tr

at
iv

e 
P

o
lic

y 
o

n
 S

o
ci

al
 M

ed
ia

 U
se

 B
y 

C
it

y 
C

o
u

n
ic

l a
n

d



I. PURPOSE: 

ADMINISTRATIVE POLICY 

Number: V-8 
Issued: April 12, 2007 
Jurisdiction: City Council 

Councilmember On-Line Forums/Web Logs ("Blogs") 

The purpose of this policy is to establish procedures whereby Councilmembers who 
wish to conduct on-line forums with their constituents by way of the internet 
communication mechanism known as a "blog" may do so while eliminating the 
possibility that use of this communication mechanism may result in a violation of the 
Brown Act's open meeting mandate. 

II. POLICY: 

The California Ralph M. Brown Act requires that all City Council meetings be open 
and public. The Act expressly prohibits meetings among a quorum of 
Councilmembers that are not open to the public whether that quorum of 

. Councilmembers communicates directly, through personal intermediaries or through 
technical devices. The California Attorney General has issued an opinion 
concluding that a majority of a local legislative body such as a City Council who 
email each other in order to develop a collective concurrence as to action to be taken 
by the City Council violates t)1e Brown Act. 

Internet web logs, or "blogs", have been recognized by Councilmembers as affording 
an effective, efficient, convenient and inexpensive means by which Councilmembers 
might hear from their constituents with respect to issues of local concern and by 
which Councilmembers, in turn, may communicate with constituents regarding those 
same issues. In addition, blogs create a forum whereby constituents with varying· 
viewpoints can dialogue with one another concerning issues of interest to them 
allowing the Councilmember to be privy to an exchange of ideas that is more free
flowing and informal than that which a Councilmember will experience at a more 
structured, formal City Council meeting. Accordingly, this policy is being 
promulgated to facilitate Councilmember "on-line forum blogs" while 
simultaneously assuring that those blogs are conducted in a fashion which eliminates 
the potential for Brown Act violations. 

A Councilmember may establish and freely participate in his or her own on-line 
forum blog. However, while a Councilmember might observe a blog created and 
conducted by a fellow Councilmember, that Councilmember shall not participate in a 
fellow Councilmember's blog by posting messages on that blog. Councilmembers 
shall post messages only on Councilmember blogs that they themselves establish and 
conduct. In addition, Councilmembers who might participate in blogs concerning 
City business which are sponsored by non-Councilmembers shall refrain from doing 
so when another Councilmember has already posted a message on that blog. 

3.A.2

Packet Pg. 9

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 V

-8
 C

o
u

n
ci

lm
em

b
er

 O
n

-L
in

e 
F

o
ru

m
s 

W
eb

 L
o

g
s 

(B
lo

g
s)

  (
A

d
m

in
is

tr
at

iv
e 

P
o

lic
y 

o
n

 S
o

ci
al

 M
ed

ia
 U

se
 B

y 
C

it
y 

C
o

u
n

ic
l a

n
d

 A
d

vi
so

ry



] 
I 

Administrative Policy V -8 
Councilmember On-Line Forums/Web Logs ("Blogs") 
April 12, 2007 
Page 2 of2 

At any time there will be only one City of Capitola councilperson that may actively 
post to the Blog. All Councilpersons can view the Blog, but only one "may actively 
participate. 

The City of Capitola Blog will be monitored by the by the Councilperson who is 
moderating to the Blog. All postings must be approved by the Councilperson 
monitoring the Blog prior to posting on the Internet and must be considered 
appropriate as defined by the acceptable use policy of the Blog. 

Approved and authorized by the City Council on April 12, 2007. 

~-lAI/#'---""-Io.4-(----
City Manager 

R:\Admin Policies\Blogs _ adm.doc 

3.A.2

Packet Pg. 10

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 V

-8
 C

o
u

n
ci

lm
em

b
er

 O
n

-L
in

e 
F

o
ru

m
s 

W
eb

 L
o

g
s 

(B
lo

g
s)

  (
A

d
m

in
is

tr
at

iv
e 

P
o

lic
y 

o
n

 S
o

ci
al

 M
ed

ia
 U

se
 B

y 
C

it
y 

C
o

u
n

ic
l a

n
d

 A
d

vi
so

ry



City of Capitola Page 1 Updated 7/1/2019 1:28 PM  

DRAFT MINUTES 
CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING 

THURSDAY, JUNE 6, 2019 
7 P.M. – CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL CHAMBERS 

 

 
 

1. ROLL CALL AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

 
Commissioners Courtney Christiansen, Ed Newman, Mick Routh, Peter Wilk, and Chair TJ Welch were 
present.  

2. ORAL COMMUNICATIONS 

A. Additions and Deletions to Agenda 

Director Herlihy announced that one additional material was received regarding Item 4.A, which 
included an additional window detail on Sheet A3.0 of the project plan set. 

B. Public Comments – none  

C. Commission Comments – none  

D. Staff Comments – none  

3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

A. Planning Commission - Regular Meeting - May 2, 2019 7:00 PM 
 

MOTION: Approve the minutes from the regular meeting of the planning commission on May 2, 2019.  

RESULT: APPROVED [UNANIMOUS] 

MOVER: Peter Wilk 

SECONDER: Mick Routh 

AYES: Newman, Welch, Wilk, Routh, Christiansen 

4. CONSENT CALENDAR 

A. 1375 Prospect Avenue   #19-0069   APN: 034-068-12 
Design Permit for the demolition of an existing single-family residence and 
construction of a new two-story single-family residence with a detached 
Accessory Dwelling Unit and a Minor Revocable Encroachment Permit for a 
small fence and pathway located within the R-1 (Single-Family Residential) 
zoning district.  
This project is in the Coastal Zone and requires a Coastal Development Permit 
which is appealable to the California Coastal Commission after all possible 
appeals are exhausted through the City. 
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption 
Property Owner: Roy and Rachel Cecchetti 
Representative: Bevan & Associates, Filed: 02.13.2019 

 
Commissioner Newman requested that Consent Calendar items be voted on individually, to clarify a 
question regarding Item 4.A. Commissioner Newman inquired about the application’s proposed 
parking configuration.  
 

4.A

Packet Pg. 11

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
Ju

n
 6

, 2
01

9 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
M

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – June 6, 2019 2 
 
MOTION: Approve the Design Permit, Accessory Dwelling Unit, Minor Revocable Encroachment Permit, 
and Coastal Development Permit with the additional materials submitted by the applicant’s representative 
on June 5, 2019, as well as the following conditions and findings.  
 
CONDITIONS: 
 

1. The project approval consists of demolition of an existing two-story single-family residence and 
construction of a 3,849 square-foot single-family residence that includes a 243-square foot 
detached accessory dwelling unit. The maximum Floor Area Ratio for the 6,708-square-foot 
property, with the accessory dwelling unit bonus, is 60% (4,025 square feet). The total FAR of the 
project is 57% with a total of 3,849 square feet, compliant with the maximum FAR within the zone. 
The proposed project is approved as indicated on the final plans reviewed and approved by the 
Planning Commission on June 6, 2019, including the modified Sheet A3.0 with window details, 
which was included as additional materials. except as modified through conditions imposed by 
the Planning Commission during the hearing.   
 

2. Prior to construction, a building permit shall be secured for any new construction or modifications 
to structures authorized by this permit. Final building plans shall be consistent with the plans 
approved by the Planning Commission. All construction and site improvements shall be 
completed according to the approved plans 
 

3. At time of submittal for building permit review, the Conditions of Approval must be printed in full 
on the cover sheet of the construction plans.  
 

4. At time of submittal for building permit review, Public Works Standard Detail SMP STRM shall be 
printed in full and incorporated as a sheet into the construction plans. All construction shall be 
done in accordance with the Public Works Standard Detail BMP STRM.  

 
5. Prior to making any changes to approved plans, modifications must be specifically requested and 

submitted in writing to the Community Development Department. Any significant changes to the 
size or exterior appearance of the structure shall require Planning Commission approval.  
 

6. Prior to issuance of building permit, a final landscape plan shall be submitted and approved by 
the Community Development Department. Landscape plans shall reflect the Planning 
Commission approval and shall identify type, size, and location of species and details of irrigation 
systems.  Landscaping in the revocable encroachment permit area shall not include plants which, 
at maturity, will: exceed three and one-half feet in height; develop a root system likely to damage 
streets, sidewalks, or adjoining property; or be expensive to remove.  

 
7. Prior to issuance of building permit, all Planning fees associated with permit #19-0069 shall be 

paid in full. 
 

8. Prior to issuance of building permit, Affordable housing in-lieu fees shall be paid as required to 
assure compliance with the City of Capitola Affordable (Inclusionary) Housing Ordinance.  

 
9. Prior to issuance of a building permit, the applicant must provide documentation of plan approval 

by the following entities: Santa Cruz County Sanitation Department, Soquel Creek Water District, 
and Central Fire Protection District.  

 
10. Prior to issuance of building permits, a drainage plan, grading, sediment and erosion control plan, 

shall be submitted to the City and approved by Public Works. The plans shall be in compliance 
with the requirements specified in Capitola Municipal Code Chapter 13.16 Storm Water Pollution 
Prevention and Protection. 
 

11. Prior to issuance of building permits, the applicant shall submit a stormwater management plan to 
the satisfaction of the Director of Public Works which implements all applicable Post Construction 

4.A

Packet Pg. 12

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
Ju

n
 6

, 2
01

9 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
M

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – June 6, 2019 3 
 

Requirements (PCRs) and Public Works Standard Details, including all standards relating to low 
impact development (LID). 
 

12. Prior to issuance of a building permit, applicant shall submit a copy of the current property deed 
and a legal description of the property. 

 
13. Prior to any land disturbance, a pre-site inspection must be conducted by the grading official to 

verify compliance with the approved erosion and sediment control plan.  

 
14. Prior to any work in the City road right-of-way, an encroachment permit shall be acquired by the 

contractor performing the work.  All sidewalk, gutter, and curb improvements shall be constructed 
per city standard; and shall include an accessible curb ramp at the corner of Prospect Avenue 
and Opal Street.  No material or equipment storage may be placed in the road right-of-way. 

 
15. During construction, any construction activity shall be subject to a construction noise curfew, 

except when otherwise specified in the building permit issued by the City. Construction noise 
shall be prohibited between the hours of nine p.m. and seven-thirty a.m. on weekdays. 
Construction noise shall be prohibited on weekends with the exception of Saturday work between 
nine a.m. and four p.m. or emergency work approved by the building official. §9.12.010B 
 

16. Prior to a project final, all cracked or broken driveway approaches, curb, gutter, or sidewalk shall 
be replaced per the Public Works Standard Details and to the satisfaction of the Public Works 
Department. All replaced driveway approaches, curb, gutter or sidewalk shall meet current 
Accessibility Standards. 

 
17. Prior to issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy, compliance with all conditions of approval shall 

be demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Community Development Director. Upon evidence of 
non-compliance with conditions of approval or applicable municipal code provisions, the applicant 
shall remedy the non-compliance to the satisfaction of the Community Development Director or 
shall file an application for a permit amendment for Planning Commission consideration. Failure 
to remedy a non-compliance in a timely manner may result in permit revocation. 
 

18. This permit shall expire 24 months from the date of issuance. The applicant shall have an 
approved building permit and construction underway before this date to prevent permit expiration. 
Applications for extension may be submitted by the applicant prior to expiration pursuant to 
Municipal Code section 17.81.160. 
 

19. The planning and infrastructure review and approval are transferable with the title to the 
underlying property so that an approved project may be conveyed or assigned by the applicant to 
others without losing the approval. The permit cannot be transferred off the site on which the 
approval was granted. 
 

20. Upon receipt of certificate of occupancy, garbage and recycling containers shall be placed out of 
public view on non-collection days.  
 

21. Prior to issuance of building permits, the building plans must show that the existing overhead 
utility lines will be underground to the nearest utility pole. 
 

22. Trees approved for removal within this development application may not be removed prior to 
issuance of a building permit. 
 

23. Prior to demolition of the existing structure, a pest control company shall resolve any pest issue 
and document that all pest issues have been mitigated. Documentation shall be submitted to the 
city at time of demolition permit application.   
 

24. Issuance of a building permit for the new structure must be obtained prior to demolition of an 

4.A

Packet Pg. 13

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
Ju

n
 6

, 2
01

9 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
M

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – June 6, 2019 4 
 

existing structure, unless special circumstances exist in which the Building Official, Public Works 
Director, and Community Development Director determine the existing structure should be 
demolished immediately for health/safety concerns.   
 

25. The floor area for the detached secondary dwelling unit shall not exceed 243 square feet as 
approved by the Planning Commission.  

 
26. At time of submittal for building permit review, a water will-serve letter for the second dwelling unit 

must be submitted to the City. 
 

27. Before obtaining a building permit for a secondary dwelling unit, the property owner shall file with 
the county recorder a declaration of restrictions containing a reference to the deed under which 
the property was acquired by the present owner and stating that: 

a. The secondary dwelling unit shall not be sold separately; 
b. The unit is restricted to the approved size; 
c. The administrative review or the design permit, whichever applies, for the secondary 

dwelling unit shall be in effect only so long as the owner of record occupies either the 
main residence or the secondary dwelling unit; 

d. The above declarations are binding upon any successor in ownership of the property. 
Lack of compliance shall be cause for code enforcement and/or revoking the 
administrative review or the architecture and site review permit, whichever applies; and 

e. The deed restrictions shall lapse upon removal of the secondary dwelling unit.  
 
FINDINGS:  
 

A. The project, subject to the conditions imposed, secures the purposes of the Zoning 
Ordinance, General Plan, and Local Coastal Plan. 
Community Development Staff, the Architectural and Site Review Committee, and the Planning 
Commission have all reviewed the project. The proposed two-story single-family residence with 
detached accessory dwelling unit complies with the development standards of the R-1 (Single-
Family Residential) District.  Specifically, all of the requirements of Capitola Municipal Code 
§17.99.050 have been met.  The project secures the purpose of the Zoning Ordinance, General 
Plan, and Local Coastal Plan 
 

B. The project will maintain the character and integrity of the neighborhood. 
Community Development Staff, the Architectural and Site Review Committee, and the Planning 
Commission have all reviewed the application for the two-story single-family residence with 
detached accessory dwelling unit.  The design of the home with the mix of horizontal wood siding 
and board and batten siding, standing seam metal roofs, additive farmhouse-style massing, and 
open gables will fit in nicely with the existing neighborhood. The project will maintain the 
character and integrity of the neighborhood.   

 
C. This project is categorically exempt under Section 15303(a) of the California    

Environmental Quality Act and is subject to Section 753.5 of Title 14 of the California Code 
of Regulations. 
Section 15303(a) of the CEQA Guidelines exempts one single family residence, or a second 
dwelling unit in a residential zone. This project involves a single-family residence with a detached 
accessory dwelling unit within the R-1 (Single-Family Residential) zoning district. No adverse 
environmental impacts were discovered during review of the proposed project.  

 

COASTAL FINDINGS: 
 
D. Findings Required.  

A. A coastal permit shall be granted only upon adoption of specific written factual findings 
supporting the conclusion that the proposed development conforms to the certified Local 
Coastal Program, including, but not limited to: 
a. A statement of the individual and cumulative burdens imposed on public access and 

recreation opportunities based on applicable factors identified pursuant to subsection (D)(2) 

4.A

Packet Pg. 14

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
Ju

n
 6

, 2
01

9 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
M

in
u

te
s)

http://www.codepublishing.com/ca/capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.246
http://www.codepublishing.com/ca/capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.190
http://www.codepublishing.com/ca/capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.110
http://www.codepublishing.com/ca/capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.190
http://www.codepublishing.com/ca/capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.190
http://www.codepublishing.com/ca/capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.190
http://www.codepublishing.com/ca/capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.527
http://www.codepublishing.com/ca/capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.190
http://www.codepublishing.com/ca/capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.190


CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – June 6, 2019 5 
 

of this section. The type of affected public access and recreation opportunities shall be clearly 
described; 

b. An analysis based on applicable factors identified in subsection (D)(2) of this section of the 
necessity for requiring public access conditions to find the project consistent with the public 
access provisions of the Coastal Act; 

c. A description of the legitimate governmental interest furthered by any access conditioned 
required; 

d. An explanation of how imposition of an access dedication requirement alleviates the access 
burdens identified. 

 

• The proposed development conforms to the City’s certified Local Coastal Plan (LCP). 
The specific, factual findings, as per CMC Section 17.46.090(D) are as follows: 

 
B. Require Project-Specific Findings. In determining any requirement for public access, 

including the type of access and character of use, the city shall evaluate and document in 
written findings the factors identified in subsections (D)(2)(a) through (e), to the extent 
applicable. The findings shall explain the basis for the conclusions and decisions of the 
city and shall be supported by substantial evidence in the record. If an access dedication 
is required as a condition of approval, the findings shall explain how the adverse effects 
which have been identified will be alleviated or mitigated by the dedication. As used in this 
section, “cumulative effect” means the effect of the individual project in combination with 
the effects of past projects, other current projects, and probable future projects, including 
development allowed under applicable planning and zoning. 
a. Project Effects on Demand for Access and Recreation. Identification of existing and open 

public access and coastal recreation areas and facilities in the regional and local vicinity of 
the development. Analysis of the project’s effects upon existing public access and recreation 
opportunities. Analysis of the project’s cumulative effects upon the use and capacity of the 
identified access and recreation opportunities, including public tidelands and beach 
resources, and upon the capacity of major coastal roads from subdivision, intensification or 
cumulative buildout. Projection for the anticipated demand and need for increased coastal 
access and recreation opportunities for the public. Analysis of the contribution of the project’s 
cumulative effects to any such projected increase. Description of the physical characteristics 
of the site and its proximity to the sea, tideland viewing points, upland recreation areas, and 
trail linkages to tidelands or recreation areas. Analysis of the importance and potential of the 
site, because of its location or other characteristics, for creating, preserving or enhancing 
public access to tidelands or public recreation opportunities; 

 

• The proposed project is located at 1375 Prospect Avenue. The home is not located in an 
area with coastal access. The home will not have an effect on public trails or beach 
access. 

 
b. Shoreline Processes. Description of the existing shoreline conditions, including beach profile, 

accessibility and usability of the beach, history of erosion or accretion, character and sources 
of sand, wave and sand movement, presence of shoreline protective structures, location of 
the line of mean high tide during the season when the beach is at its narrowest (generally 
during the late winter) and the proximity of that line to existing structures, and any other 
factors which substantially characterize or affect the shoreline processes at the site. 
Identification of anticipated changes to shoreline processes at the site. Identification of 
anticipated changes to shoreline processes and beach profile unrelated to the proposed 
development. Description and analysis of any reasonably likely changes, attributable to the 
primary and cumulative effects of the project, to: wave and sand movement affecting beaches 
in the vicinity of the project; the profile of the beach; the character, extent, accessibility and 
usability of the beach; and any other factors which characterize or affect beaches in the 
vicinity. Analysis of the effect of any identified changes of the project, alone or in combination 
with other anticipated changes, will have upon the ability of the public to use public tidelands 
and shoreline recreation areas; 

 

4.A

Packet Pg. 15

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
Ju

n
 6

, 2
01

9 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
M

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – June 6, 2019 6 
 

• The proposed project is located along 1375 Prospect Avenue. No portion of the project is 
located along the shoreline or beach. 

 
c. Historic Public Use. Evidence of use of the site by members of the general public for a 

continuous five-year period (such use may be seasonal). Evidence of the type and character 
of use made by the public (vertical, lateral, blufftop, etc., and for passive and/or active 
recreational use, etc.). Identification of any agency (or person) who has maintained and/or 
improved the area subject to historic public use and the nature of the maintenance performed 
and improvements made. Identification of the record owner of the area historically used by 
the public and any attempts by the owner to prohibit public use of the area, including the 
success or failure of those attempts. Description of the potential for adverse impact on 
public use of the area from the proposed development (including but not limited to, creation of 
physical or psychological impediments to public use); 

 

• There is not a history of public use on the subject lot. 
 

d. Physical Obstructions. Description of any physical aspects of the development which block or 
impede the ability of the public to get to or along the tidelands, public recreation areas, or 
other public coastal resources or to see the shoreline; 

 

• The proposed project is located on private property at 1375 Prospect Avenue. The 
project will not block or impede the ability of the public to get to or along the tidelands, 
public recreation areas, or views to the shoreline. 

 
e. Other Adverse Impacts on Access and Recreation. Description of the development’s physical 

proximity and relationship to the shoreline and any public recreation area. Analysis of the 
extent of which buildings, walls, signs, streets or other aspects of the development, 
individually or cumulatively, are likely to diminish the public’s use of tidelands or lands 
committed to public recreation. Description of any alteration of the aesthetic, visual or 
recreational value of public use areas, and of any diminution of the quality or amount of 
recreational use of public lands which may be attributable to the individual or cumulative 
effects of the development. 

 

• The proposed project is located on private property that will not impact access and 
recreation. The project does not diminish the public’s use of tidelands or lands committed 
to public recreation nor alter the aesthetic, visual, or recreational value of public use 
areas. 

 
C. Required Findings for Public Access Exceptions. Any determination that one of the 

exceptions of subsection (F)(2) applies to a development shall be supported by written 
findings of fact, analysis and conclusions which address all of the following: 
a. The type of access potentially applicable to the site involved (vertical, lateral, bluff top, etc.) 

and its location in relation to the fragile coastal resource to be protected, the agricultural use, 
the public safety concern, or the military facility which is the basis for the exception, as 
applicable; 

b. Unavailability of any mitigating measures to manage the type, character, intensity, hours, 
season or location of such use so that agricultural resources, fragile coastal resources, public 
safety, or military security, as applicable, are protected; 

c. Ability of the public, through another reasonable means, to reach the same area of public 
tidelands as would be made accessible by an accessway on the subject land. 

 

• The project is not requesting a Public Access Exception, therefore these findings do not 
apply. 

 
D. Findings for Management Plan Conditions. Written findings in support of a condition 

requiring a management plan for regulating the time and manner or character of public 
access use must address the following factors, as applicable: 

4.A

Packet Pg. 16

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
Ju

n
 6

, 2
01

9 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
M

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – June 6, 2019 7 
 

a. Identification and protection of specific habitat values including the reasons supporting the 
conclusions that such values must be protected by limiting the hours, seasons, or character 
of public use; 

 

• The project is located in a residential area without sensitive habitat areas. 
 

b. Topographic constraints of the development site; 
 

• The project is located on a flat lot. 
 

c. Recreational needs of the public; 
 

• The project does not impact the recreational needs of the public. 
 

d. Rights of privacy of the landowner which could not be mitigated by setting the project back 
from the access way or otherwise conditioning the development; 

e. The requirements of the possible accepting agency, if an offer of dedication is the mechanism 
for securing public access; 

f. Feasibility of adequate setbacks, fencing, landscaping, and other methods as part of a 
management plan to regulate public use. 

 
E. Project complies with public access requirements, including submittal of appropriate legal 

documents to ensure the right of public access whenever, and as, required by the certified 
land use plan and Section 17.46.010 (coastal access requirements); 

 

• No legal documents to ensure public access rights are required for the proposed project. 
 

F. Project complies with visitor-serving and recreational use policies; 
 

SEC. 30222 
The use of private lands suitable for visitor-serving commercial recreational facilities 
designed to enhance public opportunities for coastal recreation shall have priority over 
private residential, general industrial, or general commercial development, but not over 
agriculture or coastal-dependent industry. 

 

• The project involves construction of a 3,849-square-foot residence, which includes a 243-
square-foot detached accessory dwelling unit, on a residential lot of record. 

 
SEC. 30223 
Upland areas necessary to support coastal recreational uses shall be reserved for such 
uses, where feasible. 

 

• The project involves construction of a 3,849-square-foot residence, which includes a 243-
square-foot detached accessory dwelling unit, on a residential lot of record. 

 
c) Visitor-serving facilities that cannot be feasibly located in existing developed areas 
shall be located in existing isolated developments or at selected points of attraction for 
visitors. 
 

• The project involves construction of a 3,849-square-foot residence, which includes a 243-
square-foot detached accessory dwelling unit, on a residential lot of record. 

 
G. Project complies with applicable standards and requirements for provision of public and 

private parking, pedestrian access, alternate means of transportation and/or traffic 
improvements; 

 

• The project involves the construction of a new 3,849-square-foot residence, which includes a 
243-square-foot detached accessory dwelling unit. The project complies with applicable 

4.A

Packet Pg. 17

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
Ju

n
 6

, 2
01

9 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
M

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – June 6, 2019 8 
 

standards and requirements for provision for parking, pedestrian access, alternate means of 
transportation, and/or traffic improvements. 

 
H. Review of project design, site plan, signing, lighting, landscaping, etc., by the city’s 

architectural and site review committee, and compliance with adopted design guidelines 
and standards, and review committee recommendations; 

 

• The project complies with the design guidelines and standards established by the Municipal 
Code. 

 
I. Project complies with LCP policies regarding protection of public landmarks, protection or 

provision of public views; and shall not block or detract from public views to and along 
Capitola’s shoreline; 

 

• The project will not negatively impact public landmarks and/or public views. The project will 
not block or detract from public views to and along Capitola’s shoreline. 

 
J. Demonstrated availability and adequacy of water and sewer services; 

 

• The project is located on a legal lot of record with available water and sewer services. 
 

K. Provisions of minimum water flow rates and fire response times; 
 

• The project is located 0.6 miles from the Capitola fire department. Water is available at the 
location. 

 
L. Project complies with water and energy conservation standards; 

 

• The project is for a new 3,849-square-foot residence, which includes a 243-square-foot 
detached accessory dwelling unit. The GHG emissions for the project are projected at less 
than significant impact. All water fixtures must comply with the low-flow standards of the 
Soquel Creek Water District. 

 
M. Provision of park dedication, school impact, and other fees as may be required; 

 

• The project will be required to pay appropriate fees prior to building permit issuance. 
 

N. Project complies with coastal housing policies, and applicable ordinances including 
condominium conversion and mobile home ordinances; 

 

• The project does not involve a condo conversion or mobile homes. 
 

O. Project complies with natural resource, habitat, and archaeological protection policies; 
 

• Conditions of approval have been included to ensure compliance with established policies. 
 

P. Project complies with Monarch butterfly habitat protection policies; 
 

• The project is outside of any identified sensitive habitats, specifically areas where Monarch 
Butterflies have been encountered, identified and documented. 

 
Q. Project provides drainage and erosion and control measures to protect marine, stream, 

and wetland water quality from urban runoff and erosion; 
 

• Conditions of approval have been included to ensure compliance with applicable erosion 
control measures. 

 

4.A

Packet Pg. 18

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
Ju

n
 6

, 2
01

9 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
M

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – June 6, 2019 9 
 

R. Geologic/engineering reports have been prepared by qualified professional for projects in 
seismic areas, geologically unstable areas, or coastal bluffs, and project complies with 
hazard protection policies including provision of appropriate setbacks and mitigation 
measures; 

 

• Geologic/engineering reports have been prepared by qualified professionals for this project. 
Conditions of approval have been included to ensure the project applicant shall comply with 
all applicable requirements of the most recent version of the California Building Standards 
Code. 

 
S. All other geological, flood and fire hazards are accounted for and mitigated in the project 

design; 
 

• Conditions of approval have been included to ensure the project complies with geological, 
flood, and fire hazards and are accounted for and will be mitigated in the project design. 

 
T. Project complies with shoreline structure policies; 

 

• The proposed project is not located along a shoreline. 
 

U. The uses proposed are consistent with the permitted or conditional uses of the zoning 
district in which the project is located; 

 

• This use is an allowed use consistent with the R-1 (Single-Family Residential) zoning district. 
 

V. Conformance to requirements of all other city ordinances, zoning requirements, and 
project review procedures; and 

 

• The project conforms to the requirements of all city ordinances, zoning requirements, and 
project development review and development procedures. 

 
W. Project complies with the Capitola parking permit program as follows: 

a. The village area preferential parking program areas and conditions as established in 
Resolution No. 2596 and no permit parking of any kind shall be allowed on Capitola Avenue. 

b. The neighborhood preferential parking program areas are as established in Resolution 
Numbers 2433 and 2510. 

c. The village area preferential parking program shall be limited to three hundred fifty permits. 
d. Neighborhood permit areas are only in force when the shuttle bus is operating except that: 

i. The Fanmar area (Resolution No. 2436) program may operate year-round, twenty-four 
hours a day on weekends, 

ii. The Burlingame, Cliff Avenue/Grand Avenue area (Resolution No. 2435) have year-
round, twenty-four hour per day “no public parking.” 

e. Except as specifically allowed under the village parking program, no preferential residential 
parking may be allowed in the Cliff Drive parking areas. 

f. Six Depot Hill twenty-four minute “Vista” parking spaces (Resolution No. 2510) shall be 
provided as corrected in Exhibit A attached to the ordinance codified in this section and found 
on file in the office of the city clerk. 

g. A limit of fifty permits for the Pacific Cove parking lot may be issued to village permit holders 
and transient occupancy permit holders. 

h. No additional development in the village that intensifies use and requires additional parking 
shall be permitted. Changes in use that do not result in additional parking demand can be 
allowed and exceptions for onsite parking as allowed in the land use plan can be made. 
 

• The project site is not located within the area of the Capitola parking permit program. 

 

4.A

Packet Pg. 19

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
Ju

n
 6

, 2
01

9 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
M

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – June 6, 2019 10 
 

RESULT: APPROVED [4 TO 1] 

MOVER: Mick Routh 

SECONDER: Courtney Christiansen 

AYES: Welch, Wilk, Routh, Christiansen 

NAYS: Newman 

 
B. 606 Burlingame Avenue   #19-0172   035-101-17 

Design Permit for a covered entry porch and front room addition to an existing single-family 
residence located within the R-1 (Single-Family) zoning district. 
This project is in the Coastal Zone but does not require a Coastal Development Permit. 
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption 
Property Owner: Gino Blefari 
Representative: Stephen Dorcich, Filed: 04.15.19 
 

MOTION: Approve the Design Permit with the following conditions and findings. 
 
CONDITIONS: 
 

1. The project approval consists of a 123.5-square-foot addition to an existing single-family 
residence. The maximum Floor Area Ratio for the 5,000-square-foot property is 50% (2,500 
square feet). The total FAR of the project is 44.3% with a total of 2,213 square feet, compliant 
with the maximum FAR within the zone. The proposed project is approved as indicated on the 
final plans reviewed and approved by the Planning Commission on June 6, 2019, except as 
modified through conditions imposed by the Planning Commission during the hearing. 
 

2. Prior to construction, a building permit shall be secured for any new construction or modifications 
to structures authorized by this permit. Final building plans shall be consistent with the plans 
approved by the Planning Commission. All construction and site improvements shall be 
completed according to the approved plans 
 

3. At time of submittal for building permit review, the Conditions of Approval must be printed in full 
on the cover sheet of the construction plans.  
 

4. At time of submittal for building permit review, Public Works Standard Detail SMP STRM shall be 
printed in full and incorporated as a sheet into the construction plans. All construction shall be 
done in accordance with the Public Works Standard Detail BMP STRM.  

 
5. Prior to making any changes to approved plans, modifications must be specifically requested and 

submitted in writing to the Community Development Department. Any significant changes to the 
size or exterior appearance of the structure shall require Planning Commission approval.  
 

6. Prior to issuance of building permit, a final landscape plan shall be submitted and approved by 
the Community Development Department. Landscape plans shall reflect the Planning 
Commission approval and shall identify type, size, and location of species and details of irrigation 
systems.  

 
7. Prior to issuance of building permit, all Planning fees associated with permit #19-0172 shall be 

paid in full. 
 

8. Prior to issuance of building permit, Affordable housing in-lieu fees shall be paid as required to 
assure compliance with the City of Capitola Affordable (Inclusionary) Housing Ordinance.  
 

9. Prior to issuance of a building permit, the applicant must provide documentation of plan approval 
by the following entities: Santa Cruz County Sanitation Department, Soquel Creek Water District, 
and Central Fire Protection District.  

4.A

Packet Pg. 20

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
Ju

n
 6

, 2
01

9 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
M

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – June 6, 2019 11 
 

 
10. Prior to issuance of building permits, a drainage plan, grading, sediment and erosion control plan, 

shall be submitted to the City and approved by Public Works. The plans shall be in compliance 
with the requirements specified in Capitola Municipal Code Chapter 13.16 Storm Water Pollution 
Prevention and Protection. 
 

11. Prior to issuance of building permits, the applicant shall submit a stormwater management plan to 
the satisfaction of the Director of Public Works which implements all applicable Post Construction 
Requirements (PCRs) and Public Works Standard Details, including all standards relating to low 
impact development (LID). 
 

12. Prior to any land disturbance, a pre-site inspection must be conducted by the grading official to 
verify compliance with the approved erosion and sediment control plan.  
 

13. Prior to any work in the City road right of way, an encroachment permit shall be acquired by the 
contractor performing the work. No material or equipment storage may be placed in the road 
right-of-way. 
 

14. During construction, any construction activity shall be subject to a construction noise curfew, 
except when otherwise specified in the building permit issued by the City. Construction noise 
shall be prohibited between the hours of nine p.m. and seven-thirty a.m. on weekdays. 
Construction noise shall be prohibited on weekends with the exception of Saturday work between 
nine a.m. and four p.m. or emergency work approved by the building official. §9.12.010B 
 

15. Prior to a project final, all cracked or broken driveway approaches, curb, gutter, or sidewalk shall 
be replaced per the Public Works Standard Details and to the satisfaction of the Public Works 
Department. All replaced driveway approaches, curb, gutter or sidewalk shall meet current 
Accessibility Standards. 

 
16. Prior to issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy, compliance with all conditions of approval shall 

be demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Community Development Director. Upon evidence of 
non-compliance with conditions of approval or applicable municipal code provisions, the applicant 
shall remedy the non-compliance to the satisfaction of the Community Development Director or 
shall file an application for a permit amendment for Planning Commission consideration. Failure 
to remedy a non-compliance in a timely manner may result in permit revocation. 
 

17. This permit shall expire 24 months from the date of issuance. The applicant shall have an 
approved building permit and construction underway before this date to prevent permit expiration. 
Applications for extension may be submitted by the applicant prior to expiration pursuant to 
Municipal Code section 17.81.160. 
 

18. The planning and infrastructure review and approval are transferable with the title to the 
underlying property so that an approved project may be conveyed or assigned by the applicant to 
others without losing the approval. The permit cannot be transferred off the site on which the 
approval was granted. 
 

19. Upon receipt of certificate of occupancy, garbage and recycling containers shall be placed out of 
public view on non-collection days.  

 
FINDINGS: 
 

A. The application, subject to the conditions imposed, will secure the purposes of the Zoning 

Ordinance, General Plan, and Local Coastal Plan. 

 Community Development Department Staff, the Architectural and Site Review Committee, and 
the Planning Commission have all reviewed the project. The project secures the purposes of the 
R-1 (Single-Family Residential) Zoning District.  The project secures the purpose of the Zoning 
Ordinance, General Plan and Local Coastal Plan. 

4.A

Packet Pg. 21

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
Ju

n
 6

, 2
01

9 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
M

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – June 6, 2019 12 
 
 

B. The application will maintain the character and integrity of the neighborhood. 

 Community Development Department Staff, the Architectural and Site Review Committee, and 
the Planning Commission have all reviewed the project. The project is located between Bay 
Avenue and Capitola Avenue. The proposed additions to the existing single-family residence 
compliment the designs of the existing single-family and commercial structures in the 
neighborhood in terms of use, mass and scale, materials, height, and architecture.  

 
C. This project is categorically exempt under Section 15301(e) of the California 

Environmental Quality Act and is not subject to Section 753.5 of Title 14 of the California 

Code of Regulations. 

 This project involves an addition to an existing single-family residence in the R-1 (Single-Family 
Residential) Zoning District.  Section 15301(e) of the CEQA Guidelines exempts additions to a 
single-family residence in a residential zone.   

 

RESULT: APPROVED [UNANIMOUS] 

MOVER: Mick Routh 

SECONDER: Peter Wilk 

AYES: Newman, Welch, Wilk, Routh, Christiansen 

 

5. PUBLIC HEARINGS 

A. 529 Capitola Avenue   #19-0014   APN: 035-093-01 
Design Permit and Conditional Use Permit for the addition of two dormers to an historic 
single-family home located within the CN (Neighborhood Commercial) zoning district.  
This project is in the Coastal Zone but does not require a Coastal Development 
Permit. 
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption 
Property Owner: Jim LaTorre 
Representative: Dennis Norton, Filed: 05.02.2019 
 

Associate Planner Orbach presented the staff report. The property owners were present to answer 
questions.  
 
Commissioner Newman noted that applications usually include the outline of adjacent structures 
within their plan packet. He agreed that this project is small enough to not need to provide context, 
however emphasized that this practice should be standard for all applications.  
 
Commissioner Routh announced his pleasure that this home has been purchased since now it will 
be cared for rather than neglected.  
 

MOTION: Approve the Design Permit and Conditional Use Permit with the following conditions and 
findings. 
 
CONDITIONS: 
 

1. The project approval consists of construction two dormers on an historic single-family residence.  
The proposed project is approved as indicated on the final plans reviewed and approved by the 
Planning Commission on June 6, 2019, except as modified through conditions imposed by the 
Planning Commission during the hearing. 
 

2. Prior to construction, a building permit shall be secured for any new construction or modifications 
to structures authorized by this permit. Final building plans shall be consistent with the plans 

4.A

Packet Pg. 22

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
Ju

n
 6

, 2
01

9 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
M

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – June 6, 2019 13 
 

approved by the Planning Commission. All construction and site improvements shall be 
completed according to the approved plans 
 

3. At time of submittal for building permit review, the Conditions of Approval must be printed in full 
on the cover sheet of the construction plans.  
 

4. At time of submittal for building permit review, Public Works Standard Detail SMP STRM shall be 
printed in full and incorporated as a sheet into the construction plans. All construction shall be 
done in accordance with the Public Works Standard Detail BMP STRM.  

 
5. Prior to making any changes to approved plans, modifications must be specifically requested and 

submitted in writing to the Community Development Department. Any significant changes to the 
size or exterior appearance of the structure shall require Planning Commission approval.  

 
6. Prior to issuance of building permit, all Planning fees associated with permit #19-0014 shall be 

paid in full. 
 

7. Prior to issuance of building permit, Affordable housing in-lieu fees shall be paid as required to 
assure compliance with the City of Capitola Affordable (Inclusionary) Housing Ordinance.  

 
8. Prior to issuance of a building permit, the applicant must provide documentation of plan approval 

by the following entities: Santa Cruz County Sanitation Department, Soquel Creek Water District, 
and Central Fire Protection District.  

 
9. Prior to issuance of building permits, a drainage plan, grading, sediment and erosion control plan, 

shall be submitted to the City and approved by Public Works. The plans shall be in compliance 
with the requirements specified in Capitola Municipal Code Chapter 13.16 Storm Water Pollution 
Prevention and Protection. 
 

10. Prior to issuance of building permits, the applicant shall submit a stormwater management plan to 
the satisfaction of the Director of Public Works which implements all applicable Post Construction 
Requirements (PCRs) and Public Works Standard Details, including all standards relating to low 
impact development (LID). 
 

11. Prior to any land disturbance, a pre-site inspection must be conducted by the grading official to 
verify compliance with the approved erosion and sediment control plan.  

 
12. Prior to any work in the City road right of way, an encroachment permit shall be acquired by the 

contractor performing the work. No material or equipment storage may be placed in the road 
right-of-way. 

 
13. During construction, any construction activity shall be subject to a construction noise curfew, 

except when otherwise specified in the building permit issued by the City. Construction noise 
shall be prohibited between the hours of nine p.m. and seven-thirty a.m. on weekdays. 
Construction noise shall be prohibited on weekends with the exception of Saturday work between 
nine a.m. and four p.m. or emergency work approved by the building official. §9.12.010B 

 
14. Prior to issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy, compliance with all conditions of approval shall 

be demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Community Development Director. Upon evidence of 
non-compliance with conditions of approval or applicable municipal code provisions, the applicant 
shall remedy the non-compliance to the satisfaction of the Community Development Director or 
shall file an application for a permit amendment for Planning Commission consideration. Failure 
to remedy a non-compliance in a timely manner may result in permit revocation. 
 

15. This permit shall expire 24 months from the date of issuance. The applicant shall have an 
approved building permit and construction underway before this date to prevent permit expiration. 
Applications for extension may be submitted by the applicant prior to expiration pursuant to 
Municipal Code section 17.81.160. 

4.A

Packet Pg. 23

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
Ju

n
 6

, 2
01

9 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
M

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – June 6, 2019 14 
 

 
16. The planning and infrastructure review and approval are transferable with the title to the 

underlying property so that an approved project may be conveyed or assigned by the applicant to 
others without losing the approval. The permit cannot be transferred off the site on which the 
approval was granted. 
 

17. Upon receipt of certificate of occupancy, garbage and recycling containers shall be placed out of 
public view on non-collection days.  
 

18. Prior to issuance of building permits, the building plans must show that the existing overhead 
utility lines will be underground to the nearest utility pole.  

 
FINDINGS: 
 

A. The project, subject to the conditions imposed, secures the purposes of the Zoning 
Ordinance, General Plan, and Local Coastal Plan. 
Community Development Staff, the Architectural and Site Review Committee, and the Planning 
Commission have all reviewed the project. The proposed construction two dormers on an historic 
single-family residence complies with the development standards of the C-N (Neighborhood 
Commercial) District.  The project secures the purpose of the Zoning Ordinance, General Plan, 
and Local Coastal Plan 
 

B. The project will maintain the character and integrity of the neighborhood. 
Community Development Staff, the Architectural and Site Review Committee, and the Planning 
Commission have all reviewed the application for the construction two dormers on an historic 
single-family residence.  The design of the home, with dormers that maintain the historic roofline 
but are differentiated from the historic structure by the use of shingle siding, will fit in nicely with 
the existing neighborhood. The project will maintain the character and integrity of the 
neighborhood.   

 
C. This project is categorically exempt under Section 15301(e) of the California    

Environmental Quality Act and is subject to Section 753.5 of Title 14 of the California Code 
of Regulations. 
Section 15301(e) of the CEQA Guidelines exempts additions to existing structures provided that 
the addition will not result in an increase of more than 50 percent of the floor area of the 
structures before the addition, or 2,500 square feet, whichever is less.  The proposed project 
does not add any floor area to the existing structure.  This project involves the construction two 
dormers on an historic single-family residence within the C-N (Neighborhood Commercial) zoning 
district. No adverse environmental impacts were discovered during review of the proposed 
project. 

 

RESULT: APPROVED [UNANIMOUS] 

MOVER: Peter Wilk 

SECONDER: Courtney Christiansen  

AYES: Newman, Welch, Wilk, Routh, Christiansen 

6. DIRECTOR'S REPORT 

Director Herlihy presented a proposed modification to a project at 1810 Wharf Road. As part of the 
Conditional Use Permit, the historic wood siding had been preserved and labeled for reuse, however 
many boards are too damaged to utilize. The architect is requesting permission to use newly milled 
boards that will match the existing, which Director Herlihy is prepared to approve upon direction from the 
Commission. Commissioner Newman supported Director Herlihy and her judgment for approval, however 
since this issue has now come up more than once asked that the option of milling new boards be included 
in future project approvals.  
 

4.A

Packet Pg. 24

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
Ju

n
 6

, 2
01

9 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
M

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – June 6, 2019 15 
 
Director Herlihy announced that the Village Hotel Project will be presenting a conceptual review as early 
as the July 18, 2019, Planning Commission meeting. Commissioners communicated the importance of 
due notice being given not just to property owners within 300 feet of the project location, but to the entire 
City.     
 
The Zoning Code will be discussed at the City Council meeting on June 27, with analysis provided by City 
Attorney Reed Gallogly. Director Herlihy provided insight that the document will likely be presented to the 
Planning Commission one more time before being returned to the Coastal Commission for approval and 
adoption. 

7. COMMISSION COMMUNICATIONS 

Chair Welch reminded the public of this weekend’s Capitola Rod and Custom Car Show.  
 
Commissioner Newman clarified that the July meeting will be held on Thursday, July 18, 2019, to 
accommodate the July Fourth Holiday.  

8. ADJOURNMENT 

The meeting was adjourned at 7:30 PM.  
 
 

 
_____________________________________ 
Chloé Woodmansee, Clerk to the Commission 

 

4.A

Packet Pg. 25

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
Ju

n
 6

, 2
01

9 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
M

in
u

te
s)



 

 

 
 

S T A F F  R E P O R T  

 
TO:  PLANNING COMMISSION 
 
FROM:  COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 
DATE: JULY 18, 2019 
 
SUBJECT: 2195 41st Avenue  #19-0219  APN: 034-192-10 
 

Sign Permit for a monument sign with new digital changeable copy for gasoline 
pricing for the 76 Gas Station located within the C-R (Regional Commercial) 
zoning district. 
This project is not in the Coastal Zone and does not require a Coastal 
Development Permit. 
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption 
Property Owner: Gawfco Enterprises, Inc. 
Representative: Sign Development, Inc., Filed: 05.07.19 

 
APPLICANT PROPOSAL 
The applicant is proposing to update a monument sign, two canopy signs, and pump island 
signs for the 76 gas station located at 2195 41st Avenue in the C-R (Regional Commercial) 
zoning district. The applicant is requesting to update the monument sign to include digital 
changeable copy signs for gasoline pricing which requires Planning Commission approval. 
 
BACKGROUND 
In 2005, the Planning Commission approved a monument sign on the corner of 41st Avenue and 
Gross Road and two additional wall signs on the canopy.  
 
DISCUSSION 
2195 41st Avenue is located along the northern gateway into Capitola near the Highway 1 
offramp on the border of Santa Cruz County. The property is a corner lot with frontage on 41st 
Avenue and Gross Road. It is situated between commercial properties along 41st Avenue and 
County residential properties to the west. There are no proposed changes to the 76 market 
building. The property is located outside the coastal zone and is subject to the regulations of the 
2018 zoning code chapter 17.80.  
 
Capitola Municipal Code (CMC) §17.80.080(H) includes specific sign standards for gas and 
service stations.  The applicant is proposing to replace the existing sign face on the monument 
sign with a new digital sign for gasoline pricing and an updated internally illuminated logo. 
Within the gas station sign regulations, the Planning Commission may approve a six-foot-high 
monument sign with digital changeable copy signs for a gas station. 
 

5.A

Packet Pg. 26



 
 

 

In the Regional Commercial zoning district, a monument sign is limited to a maximum of 60 
square feet.  The monument sign will not change in size. It is six feet tall by nine feet one inch 
wide including the base, for a total of 54.5 square feet.     
 
CMC §17.80.080(H)(3) allows a gas station to have a monument sign on each street frontage.  
The monument sign will remain in the existing location on the corner of 41st Avenue and Gross 
Road.   
 
The applicant is also updating existing signs that do not require Planning Commission approval 
because they are simply updating the sign faces.  The two wall signs on the canopy will be 
refaced. Each sign is a round, internally illuminated “76” logo, measuring 33.5 inches in 
diameter.  The application also includes a reface to the “76” logo decals on the pump islands.  
 
The site includes legal non-conforming signs. Pursuant to CMC §17.80.140(B), changes to legal 
nonconforming signs are permitted as long as there is no alteration to the physical structure or 
support elements of the sign.  The decals are legal nonconforming under the new zoning code, 
as signs on pump islands are prohibited except as required by state law. Also, the total sign 
area for the property is legal nonconforming as it exceeds the 62.5 square foot maximum 
allowed with Planning Commission approval. The application maintains the existing sign area 
for each of the updated sign faces with a total of 75 square feet of sign area on the site.  
 
Unpermitted Signage 
During a site inspection staff identified two unpermitted signs affixed to the light posts along 
Gross Road. Pursuant to CMC §17.80.060(V), the unpermitted signs are prohibited. A condition 
has been added that requires the site to be in full compliance with the sign code prior to 
issuance of a building permit.  
 
CEQA 
This project is categorically exempt under Section 15311(a) of the California Environmental 
Quality Act and is not subject to Section 753.5 of Title 14 of the California Code of Regulations. 
The proposed project involves a new monument sign on a commercial property in the C-R 
(Regional Commercial) zoning district. No adverse environmental impacts were discovered 
during project review by either the Planning Department Staff or the Planning Commission.  
 
RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends that the Planning Commission review application #19-0219 and approve the 
project based on the following findings and conditions of approval. 
 

CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 
1. The project approval consists of a reface to a 54-square-foot monument sign with digital 

changeable copy signs for gasoline pricing, a reface of two wall signs on the canopy, 
and a reface of pump island signs at 2195 41st Avenue located in the Regional 
Commercial zoning district.  The proposed project is approved as indicated on the final 
plans reviewed and approved by the Planning Commission on July 18, 2019. 

 
2. The signs may not expose any direct lighting or electrical.  All electrical shall be 

concealed.  The canopy logos shall be internally illuminated. Sign illumination shall not 
shine directly on adjoining properties or cause glare for motorists or pedestrians.  

 
3. Digital LED lettering is allowed within the approval. The image on the LED sign shall not 

be animated or moving at any time. The installed sign must match the plans reviewed 
and approved by the Planning Commission on July 18, 2019. 

5.A

Packet Pg. 27



 
 

 

 
4. Prior to making any changes to approved plans, modifications must be specifically 

requested and submitted in writing to the Community Development Department.  Any 
significant changes to the size or exterior appearance of the structure shall require 
Planning Commission approval.   

 
5. Prior to issuance of building permit, all Planning fees associated with permit #19-0219 

shall be paid in full. 
 
6. All signs on the property must be permitted and comply with sign standards of the 

Capitola Zoning code. Prior to issuance of a building permit, all unpermitted signs shall 
be removed. 

 
7. Prior to any work in the City road right of way, an encroachment permit shall be acquired 

by the contractor performing the work.  No material or equipment storage may be placed 
in the road right-of-way. 

 
8. During construction, any construction activity shall be subject to a construction noise 

curfew, except when otherwise specified in the building permit issued by the City.  
Construction noise shall be prohibited between the hours of nine p.m. and seven-thirty 
a.m. on weekdays. Construction noise shall be prohibited on weekends except for 
Saturday work between nine a.m. and four p.m. or emergency work approved by the 
building official. §9.12.010B  

 
9. Upon evidence of non-compliance with conditions of approval or applicable municipal 

code provisions, the applicant shall remedy the non-compliance to the satisfaction of the 
Community Development Director or shall file an application for a permit amendment for 
Planning Commission consideration. Failure to remedy a non-compliance in a timely 
manner may result in permit revocation. 

 
10. This permit shall expire 2 years from the date of issuance. The applicant shall have an 

approved building permit and construction underway before this date to prevent permit 
expiration. Applications for extension may be submitted by the applicant prior to 
expiration pursuant to Municipal Code section 17.156.080. 

 
11. The planning and infrastructure review and approval are transferable with the title to the 

underlying property so that an approved project may be conveyed or assigned by the 
applicant to others without losing the approval. The permit cannot be transferred off the 
site on which the approval was granted. 

 
FINDINGS 

A. The proposed signs are consistent with the general plan, local coastal program, 
zoning code, and any applicable specific plan or area plan adopted by the city 
council. 
The Community Development Department and the Planning Commission have reviewed 
the sign application and determined that the proposed signs will secure the purposes of 
the zoning ordinance, design standards, and general plan. 
 

B. The proposed signs comply with all applicable standards in Chapter 17.80 (Signs). 
The proposed monument sign, wall signs, and pump island signs comply with all 
applicable standards of Chapter 17.80 as conditioned. 

5.A

Packet Pg. 28



 
 

 

 
C. The proposed sign will not adversely impact the public health, safety, or general 

welfare. 
The Community Development Department and the Planning Commission have reviewed 
the sign application and determined that the proposed signs will not have adverse 
impacts on public health, safety, or general welfare. 
 

D. The number, size, placement, design, and material of the proposed signs are 
compatible with the architectural design of buildings on the site. 
The Community Development Department and the Planning Commission have reviewed 
the sign application and determined that the proposal is compatible with the architectural 
design of the structure on the site. 

 
E. The proposed signs are restrained in character and no larger than necessary for 

adequate identification. 
The Community Development Department and the Planning Commission have reviewed 
the sign application and determined the proposed sign designs are not larger than 
necessary for adequate identification.  

 
F. This project is categorically exempt under Section 15311(a) of the California 

Environmental Quality Act and is not subject to Section 735.5 of Title 14 of the 
California Code of Regulations. 
CEQA Section 15311(a) exempts the construction of on-premise signs appurtenant to 
existing commercial facilities.  The signs proposed are for an existing 76 gas station in 
the C-R (Regional Commercial) zoning district.  No adverse environmental impacts were 
discovered during project review by either the Planning Department Staff or the Planning 
Commission. 

 
ATTACHMENTS:  

1. 2195 41st Avenue - Sign Plans 
 
Prepared By: Sean Sesanto 

5.A

Packet Pg. 29



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 30

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

19
5 

41
st

 A
ve

n
u

e 
- 

S
ig

n
 P

la
n

s 
 (

21
95

 4
1s

t 
A

ve
n

u
e)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 31

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

19
5 

41
st

 A
ve

n
u

e 
- 

S
ig

n
 P

la
n

s 
 (

21
95

 4
1s

t 
A

ve
n

u
e)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 32

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

19
5 

41
st

 A
ve

n
u

e 
- 

S
ig

n
 P

la
n

s 
 (

21
95

 4
1s

t 
A

ve
n

u
e)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 33

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

19
5 

41
st

 A
ve

n
u

e 
- 

S
ig

n
 P

la
n

s 
 (

21
95

 4
1s

t 
A

ve
n

u
e)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 34

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

19
5 

41
st

 A
ve

n
u

e 
- 

S
ig

n
 P

la
n

s 
 (

21
95

 4
1s

t 
A

ve
n

u
e)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 35

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

19
5 

41
st

 A
ve

n
u

e 
- 

S
ig

n
 P

la
n

s 
 (

21
95

 4
1s

t 
A

ve
n

u
e)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 36

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

19
5 

41
st

 A
ve

n
u

e 
- 

S
ig

n
 P

la
n

s 
 (

21
95

 4
1s

t 
A

ve
n

u
e)



 

 

 
 

S T A F F  R E P O R T  

 
TO:  PLANNING COMMISSION 
 
FROM:  COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 
DATE: JULY 18, 2019 
 
SUBJECT: 511 Escalona Drive  #19-0165  APN: 036-125-02 
 

Design Permit for a second-story addition to an existing single-family 
residence, an internal Secondary Dwelling Unit, and a Major 
Revocable Encroachment Permit for a fence in the public right of way 
located within the R-1 (Single-Family) zoning district.  
This project is in the Coastal Zone and requires a Coastal Development Permit 
which is appealable to the California Coastal Commission after all possible 
appeals are exhausted through the City.  
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption 
Property Owner: Christine Meserve 
Representative: Valerie Hart, Filed: 04.10.2019 

 
APPLICANT PROPOSAL 
The applicant is proposing to expand a second-story living space above an attached garage and 
convert a portion of the conditioned space within the garage into a 499-square-foot Secondary 
Dwelling Unit located at 511 Escalona Drive within the R-1 (Single-Family Residential) zoning 
district.  The application also includes a Major Revocable Encroachment Permit for an existing 
fence in the public right of way. 
 
BACKGROUND 
The Architectural and Site Review Committee reviewed the application on June 12, 2019, and 
provided the applicant with the following direction: 
 
Public Works, Kailash Mozumder: informed the applicant that they would need to submit a copy 
of the deed and legal description of the lot to complete the revocable encroachment permit 
application.   
 
Building Official, Robin Woodman: informed the applicant that windows adjacent to a bathtub 
are required to be tempered.  
 
Local Architect, Frank Phanton: liked the revisions to the attached garage, including the flat roof, 
and thought that the design did a good job of respecting the privacy of neighboring properties. 
 
City Planner, Matt Orbach: informed the applicant that windows adjacent to the flat roof should 
be at least four feet from the finished floor to prevent use of the flat roof as a deck.  Mr. Orbach 
also pointed out the potential for the living space above the garage to be used as a third 

6.A

Packet Pg. 37



 
 

 

separate unit, which is not allowed, and stated that a condition of approval would be included 
limiting the kitchen area in that living space to a “mini-bar/convenience area.”   
 
Following the meeting, the applicant submitted revised plans that incorporated all the 
modifications requested by the architectural and site review committee, including windows 
adjacent to the flat roof with sills at 42 inches above the floor and the stairwell from the second-
story living space above the garage terminating in the garage rather than the exterior.  The 
applicant also submitted a copy of the deed and the legal description of the lot. 
 
ZONING SUMMARY 
The following table outlines the zoning code requirements for development in the R-1 Zoning 
District.   
 

R-1 (Single Family Residential) Zoning District 
 

Development Standards 

Building Height 

R-1 Regulation Existing Proposed 

25 ft. 21 ft. 11 in.  23 ft. 8 in. 

Floor Area Ratio (FAR) 

 Existing Proposed 

Lot Size 5,513 sq. ft. 5,513 sq. ft. 

Maximum Floor 
Area Ratio 

49% (Max 2,701 sq. ft.) 60% (Max 3,312 sq. ft.) 

First Story Floor 
Area 

2,343 sq. ft. 2,037 sq. ft. 

Second Story Floor 
Area 

1,068 sq. ft. 1,268 sq. ft. 

   TOTAL FAR 61.9% (3,411 sq. ft.) 59.9% (3,305 sq. ft.) 

Yards  

 R-1 Regulation Existing Proposed 

Front Yard 1st Story 15 ft. 15 ft. 15 ft. 

Front Yard 2nd Story  20 ft. 25 ft. 8 in. 25 ft. 8 in. 

Side Yard 1st Story 
– Inner 

10% lot 
width 

Lot width: 
50.75 
(Avg.) 
 
5 ft. 1 in. 
min. 

5 ft. 7 in. 5 ft. 7 in. 

Side Yard 2nd Story 
– Inner 

15% of 
width 

Lot width: 
50.75 
(Avg.) 
 
7 ft. 7 in. 
min 

 12 ft. 6 in. 8 ft. 

Side Yard 1st Story 
– Street 

10 feet for 
corner – 

street face 

 
10 ft. min. 

9 ft. 10 in. 
Existing  

Nonconforming 

9 ft. 10 in. 
Existing 

Nonconforming 

Side Yard 2nd Story 10 feet for  21 ft. 21 ft. 9 in. 

6.A

Packet Pg. 38



 
 

 

– Street  corner – 
street face 

10 ft. min 

Rear Yard 1st Story 10% lot 
depth of 
adjacent 
property 

Lot depth 
40 ft.  
 
4 ft. min. 

12 ft. 4 in. 12 ft. 4 in. 

Rear Yard 2nd Story 10% lot 
depth of 
adjacent 
property 

Lot depth 
40 ft.  
 
4 ft. min 

12 ft. 4 in. 12 ft. 4 in. 

Encroachments 
(list all) 

Existing Fence 
Front Residence in Street Side Setback 

Front Residence in 
Street Side Setback 

Parking 

 Required Existing Proposed 

Residential (from 
2,601 up to 4,000 
sq. ft.) 

4 spaces total 
1 covered 
3 uncovered 

2 spaces total 
2 covered 
0 uncovered 

4 spaces total 
2 covered 
2 uncovered 

Garage and 
Accessory Bldg. 

Complies with Standards? List non-compliance 

Garage Yes  

Underground Utilities: required with 25% increase in area No 

 
DISCUSSION 
The existing residence at 511 Escalona Drive is a nonconforming two-story single-family 
residence.  The applicant is proposing to expand a second-story living space above an attached 
garage and convert a portion of the unconditioned space within the first story of the garage into 
a 499-square-foot secondary dwelling unit.  The lot is surrounded by one- and two-story single-
family homes.  The proposed residence is a Spanish-style home featuring stucco siding and tile 
roofs. 
 
Secondary Dwelling Unit 
The proposal includes the conversion of 499 square feet of existing floor area inside the 
attached garage into an internal secondary dwelling unit.  The proposed internal secondary 
dwelling unit is permitted in the R-1 zoning district on the 5,513 square foot lot that is occupied 
by one single-family dwelling.  The maximum size of a secondary dwelling unit on this lot is 500 
square feet.  The proposed secondary dwelling unit complies with all the secondary dwelling 
regulations of §17.99 and applicable state law.  
 
Revocable Encroachment Permit 
The application includes a major revocable encroachment permit for unpermitted improvements 
in the public right of way.  The encroachments include an existing stucco wall along Escalona 
Drive and Sacramento Avenue that was built without the required permits.  The portion of the 
wall along the corner of Escalona Drive and Sacramento Avenue is two feet five inches high 
with pillars that are three feet eleven inches high.  The rest of the wall is four feet one inch high 
with pillars that are five feet five inches high (Attachment 2).  The wall, which was built without 
permits, was red-tagged in 1997 for being constructed without a building permit or an 
encroachment permit and constituting a sight distance hazard for traffic at the intersection.  It 
appears that, as a result, the fence height along the corner of Escalona Drive and Sacramento 
Avenue was reduced to less than 30 inches, in compliance with line of sight requirements for 
fences on corner lots.  The existing wall is in compliance with the fence height regulations of 
three and a half feet maximum for front yards and six feet maximum for side and rear yards. 

6.A

Packet Pg. 39



 
 

 

 
The existing wall does not comply with the location standard for fences on corner lots.  Capitola 
Municipal Code §17.54.020.A.3 requires corner lots to set back a fence at least five feet from 
the property line on that side of the lot which has the greatest length along the street.  The 
applicant is requesting a revocable encroachment permit to permit the existing wall within the 
public right-of-way.  Pursuant to CMC §17.54.020(B), the Planning Commission may approve 
alternative locations, height, and materials for fences.   
 
Pursuant to §12.56.060, the City may issue permits to allow certain improvements to be 
installed and maintained by abutting private property owners, within the private improvements 
area.  Minor permits may be issued by the Public Works Director for mailboxes, fences up to 
three and a half feet in height, walkways, driveways, and landscaping that comply with specific 
standards.  Major Permits, for improvements beyond those listed under the discretion of the 
Public Works Director, require approval by the Planning Commission.   
 
The Planning Commission must evaluate the following considerations when deciding whether or 
not to issue a major encroachment permit:   
 

1. The expense and difficulty that will be entailed in removing the improvement in the event 
of street widening;  
Staff analysis: Within the revocable/hold harmless agreement, the owner must agree 
that the removal of the wall, when so ordered by the City, shall be at the permittee’s 
expense and not the expense of the City.  
 

2. Whether the proposed improvements are in conformity with the size, scale, and 
aesthetics of the surrounding neighborhood;  
Staff analysis: The proposed wall is of exceptional quality and fits well with the 
aesthetics of the community.  
 

3. Preservation of views;  
Staff analysis: Public views would not be impacted by the proposed wall.  
 

4. Whether granting the permit would tend to result in the granting of a special privilege, in 
the sense that granting this permit would tend to preclude granting similar permits to 
neighboring property. If the benefit to the applicant and community is determined to 
exceed the detriment to the community, the permit shall be approved. The planning 
commission may, by providing reasonable notice to neighboring property owners, 
develop standards or criteria applicable to the entire block within which the property is 
located.  
Staff analysis:  Staff has not identified any potential detriments to the City or community 
that the proposed wall would create. On-street parking will not be affected by the 
proposed wall.  

 
Nonconforming 
The existing structure is nonconforming because the east side of the structure along 
Sacramento Avenue encroaches two inches into the ten-foot required side yard setback.  The 
applicant submitted the required 80% nonconforming calculation (Attachment 3), which 
demonstrates that the proposed structural alterations do not exceed 80 percent of the present 
fair market value of the structure, so the alterations are permissible. 
 
Future Deck 

6.A

Packet Pg. 40



 
 

 

The property is located within the Coastal Zone and therefore subject to the 1975 zoning code 
rather than the 2018 updated zoning code. The addition to the attached garage includes a 372-
square-foot flat roof with a parapet wall that seems to be designed as a second-story deck.  The 
proposed structure is only seven square feet under the maximum floor area for the property, so 
the flat roof may not currently be used as a deck because a deck counts as floor area under the 
1975 code.  Under the new zoning code, however, second-story decks will not count towards 
the floor area, so the area could potentially be used as a deck with future approval of a design 
permit from the Planning Commission.   
 
The original submittal included tall windows with a bottom edge close to the floor that could 
provide easy access to the flat roof so that it could be used as a deck.  On previous projects 
with similar situations, the Planning Commission has restricted access to these unpermitted 
deck areas by only allowing windows that are at least four feet off the floor on walls adjacent to 
flat roofs.  In this case, however, the proposed windows are egress windows, so they cannot be 
four feet (48 inches) off of the floor.  Following the Architecture and Site Review Committee 
meeting, the applicant revised the windows adjacent to the flat roof to have sills at 42 inches 
above the floor, which meets the building code requirements for egress windows and addresses 
staff concerns about easy access to the flat roof.   
 
Potential Third Unit 
Only one secondary dwelling unit is allowed on a single parcel (CMC §17.74.040(D)).  Staff has 
concerns regarding the addition to the upstairs of the attached garage, which includes two 
bedrooms, one bathroom, living room, wet bar that is designed similar in layout to a full-sized 
kitchen, independent access from a first-story entryway staircase and a second access from the 
garage. Although all improvements comply with the zoning standards, the area could be easily 
closed off from the rest of the single-family home by installing one door and inhabited 
separately.   
 
To prevent an illegal third unit, conditions of approval have been added to clarify that the 
approval is limited to one single-family home with one secondary dwelling unit and ensure the 
“wet bar” in the living space above the garage is limited to a “mini-bar/convenience area.”  A 
min-bar/convenience area is a supplemental food preparation area within a single-family home.  
Under Capitola Municipal Code §17.03.340: “Such an area is limited to a small refrigerator, a 
microwave oven and a small sink with a drain size less than one and one-half inches. No gas 
line or two hundred twenty electric service is permitted within this area. Only one such area is 
permitted within a dwelling in addition to the kitchen, and internal access within the dwelling 
must be maintained.”  Condition of approval #20 reflects these restrictions. 
 
CEQA 
Section 15303(a) of the CEQA Guidelines exempts one single family residence, or a second 
dwelling unit in a residential zone.  No adverse environmental impacts were discovered during 
review of the proposed project.  
 
RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends the Planning Commission review the application and approve project 
application #19-0165. 
 

CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 
1. The project approval consists of construction of a second-story addition and a 499-

square-foot internal Secondary Dwelling Unit. The maximum Floor Area Ratio for the 
5,513-square-foot property with a Secondary Dwelling Unit is 60% (3,312 square feet). 
The total FAR of the project is 59.9% with a total of 3,305 square feet, compliant with the 

6.A

Packet Pg. 41



 
 

 

maximum FAR within the zone. The 499 square foot internal secondary dwelling unit is 
located on first story of the home adjacent to the garage.  The proposed project is 
approved as indicated on the final plans reviewed and approved by the Planning 
Commission on July 18, 2019, except as modified through conditions imposed by the 
Planning Commission during the hearing. 
 

2. Prior to construction, a building permit shall be secured for any new construction or 
modifications to structures authorized by this permit. Final building plans shall be 
consistent with the plans approved by the Planning Commission. All construction and 
site improvements shall be completed according to the approved plans 
 

3. At time of submittal for building permit review, the Conditions of Approval must be 
printed in full on the cover sheet of the construction plans.  
 

4. At time of submittal for building permit review, Public Works Standard Detail SMP STRM 
shall be printed in full and incorporated as a sheet into the construction plans. All 
construction shall be done in accordance with the Public Works Standard Detail BMP 
STRM.  

 
5. Prior to making any changes to approved plans, modifications must be specifically 

requested and submitted in writing to the Community Development Department. Any 
significant changes to the size or exterior appearance of the structure shall require 
Planning Commission approval.  
 

6. Prior to issuance of building permit, a final landscape plan shall be submitted and 
approved by the Community Development Department. Landscape plans shall reflect 
the Planning Commission approval and shall identify type, size, and location of species 
and details of irrigation systems.  

 
7. Prior to issuance of building permit, all Planning fees associated with permit #19-0165 

shall be paid in full. 
 

8. Prior to issuance of building permit, Affordable housing in-lieu fees shall be paid as 
required to assure compliance with the City of Capitola Affordable (Inclusionary) Housing 
Ordinance.  
 

9. Prior to issuance of a building permit, the applicant must provide documentation of plan 
approval by the following entities: Santa Cruz County Sanitation Department, Soquel 
Creek Water District, and Central Fire Protection District.  
 

10. Prior to issuance of building permits, a drainage plan, grading, sediment and erosion 
control plan, shall be submitted to the City and approved by Public Works. The plans 
shall be in compliance with the requirements specified in Capitola Municipal Code 
Chapter 13.16 Storm Water Pollution Prevention and Protection. 
 

11. Prior to issuance of building permits, the applicant shall submit a stormwater 
management plan to the satisfaction of the Director of Public Works which implements 
all applicable Post Construction Requirements (PCRs) and Public Works Standard 
Details, including all standards relating to low impact development (LID). 
 

12. Prior to any land disturbance, a pre-site inspection must be conducted by the grading 
official to verify compliance with the approved erosion and sediment control plan.  

6.A

Packet Pg. 42



 
 

 

 
13. Prior to any work in the City road right of way, an encroachment permit shall be acquired 

by the contractor performing the work. No material or equipment storage may be placed 
in the road right-of-way. 
 

14. During construction, any construction activity shall be subject to a construction noise 
curfew, except when otherwise specified in the building permit issued by the City. 
Construction noise shall be prohibited between the hours of nine p.m. and seven-thirty 
a.m. on weekdays. Construction noise shall be prohibited on weekends with the 
exception of Saturday work between nine a.m. and four p.m. or emergency work 
approved by the building official. §9.12.010B 
 

15. Prior to a project final, all cracked or broken driveway approaches, curb, gutter, or 
sidewalk shall be replaced per the Public Works Standard Details and to the satisfaction 
of the Public Works Department. All replaced driveway approaches, curb, gutter or 
sidewalk shall meet current Accessibility Standards. 

 
16. Prior to issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy, compliance with all conditions of 

approval shall be demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Community Development 
Director. Upon evidence of non-compliance with conditions of approval or applicable 
municipal code provisions, the applicant shall remedy the non-compliance to the 
satisfaction of the Community Development Director or shall file an application for a 
permit amendment for Planning Commission consideration. Failure to remedy a non-
compliance in a timely manner may result in permit revocation. 
 

17. This permit shall expire 24 months from the date of issuance. The applicant shall have 
an approved building permit and construction underway before this date to prevent 
permit expiration. Applications for extension may be submitted by the applicant prior to 
expiration pursuant to Municipal Code section 17.81.160. 
 

18. The planning and infrastructure review and approval are transferable with the title to the 
underlying property so that an approved project may be conveyed or assigned by the 
applicant to others without losing the approval. The permit cannot be transferred off the 
site on which the approval was granted. 
 

19. Upon receipt of certificate of occupancy, garbage and recycling containers shall be 
placed out of public view on non-collection days. 

 
20. The food preparation area within the second-story living space above garage is limited to 

a mini-bar/convenience area.  The mini-bar/convenience area is limited to a small 
refrigerator, a microwave oven, and a small sink with a drain size less than one and one-
half inches. No gas line or two hundred twenty electric service is permitted within this 
area. Only one such area is permitted within a dwelling in addition to the kitchen, and 
internal access within the dwelling must be maintained.  The internal access must be 
maintained between the conditioned space of the main home and the mini-
bar/convenience area.  The staircase to the garage from the second story is not 
considered internal access within the dwelling, as the garage in unconditioned space.  

 
21.  The floor area for secondary dwelling units shall not exceed 499 square feet as 

approved by the Planning Commission.  
 

6.A

Packet Pg. 43



 
 

 

22. At time of submittal for building permit review, a water will serve letter for the second 
dwelling unit must be submitted to the City. 
 

23. Before obtaining a building permit for a secondary dwelling unit, the property owner shall 
file with the county recorder a declaration of restrictions containing a reference to the 
deed under which the property was acquired by the present owner and stating that: 

a. The secondary dwelling unit shall not be sold separately; 
b. The unit is restricted to the approved size; 
c. The administrative review or the design permit, whichever applies, for the 

secondary dwelling unit shall be in effect only so long as the owner of record 
occupies either the main residence or the secondary dwelling unit; 

d. The above declarations are binding upon any successor in ownership of the 
property. Lack of compliance shall be cause for code enforcement and/or revoking 
the administrative review or the architecture and site review permit, whichever 
applies; 

e. The deed restrictions shall lapse upon removal of the secondary dwelling unit.  

 
FINDINGS 

A. The project, subject to the conditions imposed, secures the purposes of the 
Zoning Ordinance, General Plan, and Local Coastal Plan. 
Community Development Staff, the Architectural and Site Review Committee, and the 
Planning Commission have all reviewed the project. The second-story addition and 
internal Secondary Dwelling Unit comply with the development standards of the R-1 
District.  Specifically, all of the requirements of Capitola Municipal Code §17.99.050 
have been met.  The project secures the purpose of the Zoning Ordinance, General 
Plan, and Local Coastal Plan. 
 

B. The project will maintain the character and integrity of the neighborhood. 
Community Development Staff, the Architectural and Site Review Committee, and the 
Planning Commission have all reviewed the application for the second-story addition and 
internal Secondary Dwelling Unit.  The design of the addition, with board and batten 
siding and composition shingle roof, will fit in nicely with the existing neighborhood. The 
project will maintain the character and integrity of the neighborhood.   

 
C. This project is categorically exempt under Section 15301(e) of the California    

Environmental Quality Act and is subject to Section 753.5 of Title 14 of the 
California Code of Regulations. 
Section 15301(e) of the CEQA Guidelines exempts additions to existing structures 
provided that the addition will not result in an increase of more than 50% of the existing 
structure or more than 2,500 square feet, whichever is less. This project involves an 
addition and the removal of several covered outdoor open spaces that result in a 
reduction of the floor area by 3%. No adverse environmental impacts were discovered 
during review of the proposed project.  

 
COASTAL FINDINGS 
D. Findings Required.  

1. A coastal permit shall be granted only upon adoption of specific written factual 
findings supporting the conclusion that the proposed development conforms to 
the certified Local Coastal Program, including, but not limited to: 
a. A statement of the individual and cumulative burdens imposed on public access and 

recreation opportunities based on applicable factors identified pursuant to subsection 

6.A

Packet Pg. 44

http://www.codepublishing.com/ca/capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.190


 
 

 

(D)(2) of this section. The type of affected public access and recreation opportunities 
shall be clearly described; 

b. An analysis based on applicable factors identified in subsection (D)(2) of this section 
of the necessity for requiring public access conditions to find the project consistent 
with the public access provisions of the Coastal Act; 

c. A description of the legitimate governmental interest furthered by any access 
conditioned required; 

d. An explanation of how imposition of an access dedication requirement alleviates the 
access burdens identified. 

 

• The proposed development conforms to the City’s certified Local Coastal Plan 
(LCP). The specific, factual findings, as per CMC Section 17.46.090(D) are as 
follows: 

 
2. Require Project-Specific Findings. In determining any requirement for public 

access, including the type of access and character of use, the city shall evaluate 
and document in written findings the factors identified in subsections (D)(2)(a) 
through (e), to the extent applicable. The findings shall explain the basis for the 
conclusions and decisions of the city and shall be supported by substantial 
evidence in the record. If an access dedication is required as a condition of 
approval, the findings shall explain how the adverse effects which have been 
identified will be alleviated or mitigated by the dedication. As used in this section, 
“cumulative effect” means the effect of the individual project in combination with 
the effects of past projects, other current projects, and probable future projects, 
including development allowed under applicable planning and zoning. 
a. Project Effects on Demand for Access and Recreation. Identification of existing and 

open public access and coastal recreation areas and facilities in the regional and 
local vicinity of the development. Analysis of the project’s effects upon existing public 
access and recreation opportunities. Analysis of the project’s cumulative effects upon 
the use and capacity of the identified access and recreation opportunities, including 
public tidelands and beach resources, and upon the capacity of major coastal roads 
from subdivision, intensification or cumulative buildout. Projection for the anticipated 
demand and need for increased coastal access and recreation opportunities for the 
public. Analysis of the contribution of the project’s cumulative effects to any such 
projected increase. Description of the physical characteristics of the site and its 
proximity to the sea, tideland viewing points, upland recreation areas, and trail 
linkages to tidelands or recreation areas. Analysis of the importance and potential of 
the site, because of its location or other characteristics, for creating, preserving or 
enhancing public access to tidelands or public recreation opportunities; 

 

• The proposed project is located at 511 Escalona Drive. The home is not located 
in an area with coastal access. The home will not have an effect on public trails 
or beach access. 

 
b. Shoreline Processes. Description of the existing shoreline conditions, including 

beach profile, accessibility and usability of the beach, history of erosion or accretion, 
character and sources of sand, wave and sand movement, presence of shoreline 
protective structures, location of the line of mean high tide during the season when 
the beach is at its narrowest (generally during the late winter) and the proximity of 
that line to existing structures, and any other factors which substantially characterize 
or affect the shoreline processes at the site. Identification of anticipated changes to 

6.A

Packet Pg. 45



 
 

 

shoreline processes at the site. Identification of anticipated changes to shoreline 
processes and beach profile unrelated to the proposed development. Description 
and analysis of any reasonably likely changes, attributable to the primary and 
cumulative effects of the project, to: wave and sand movement affecting beaches in 
the vicinity of the project; the profile of the beach; the character, extent, accessibility 
and usability of the beach; and any other factors which characterize or affect 
beaches in the vicinity. Analysis of the effect of any identified changes of the project, 
alone or in combination with other anticipated changes, will have upon the ability of 
the public to use public tidelands and shoreline recreation areas; 

 

• The proposed project is located along Escalona Drive. No portion of the project is 
located along the shoreline or beach. 

 
c. Historic Public Use. Evidence of use of the site by members of the general public for 

a continuous five-year period (such use may be seasonal). Evidence of the type and 
character of use made by the public (vertical, lateral, blufftop, etc., and for passive 
and/or active recreational use, etc.). Identification of any agency (or person) who has 
maintained and/or improved the area subject to historic public use and the nature of 
the maintenance performed and improvements made. Identification of the record 
owner of the area historically used by the public and any attempts by the owner to 
prohibit public use of the area, including the success or failure of those attempts. 
Description of the potential for adverse impact on public use of the area from the 
proposed development (including but not limited to, creation of physical or 
psychological impediments to public use); 

 

• There is not a history of public use on the subject lot. 
 

d. Physical Obstructions. Description of any physical aspects of the development 
which block or impede the ability of the public to get to or along the tidelands, public 
recreation areas, or other public coastal resources or to see the shoreline; 

 

• The proposed project is located on private property on Escalona Drive. The 
project will not block or impede the ability of the public to get to or along the 
tidelands, public recreation areas, or views to the shoreline. 

 
e. Other Adverse Impacts on Access and Recreation. Description of the development’s 

physical proximity and relationship to the shoreline and any public recreation area. 
Analysis of the extent of which buildings, walls, signs, streets or other aspects of the 
development, individually or cumulatively, are likely to diminish the public’s use of 
tidelands or lands committed to public recreation. Description of any alteration of the 
aesthetic, visual or recreational value of public use areas, and of any diminution of 
the quality or amount of recreational use of public lands which may be attributable to 
the individual or cumulative effects of the development. 

 

• The proposed project is located on private property that will not impact access 
and recreation. The project does not diminish the public’s use of tidelands or 
lands committed to public recreation nor alter the aesthetic, visual, or recreational 
value of public use areas. 

 
3. Required Findings for Public Access Exceptions. Any determination that one of 

the exceptions of subsection (F)(2) applies to a development shall be supported 

6.A

Packet Pg. 46



 
 

 

by written findings of fact, analysis and conclusions which address all of the 
following: 
a. The type of access potentially applicable to the site involved (vertical, 

lateral, bluff top, etc.) and its location in relation to the fragile coastal resource to be 
protected, the agricultural use, the public safety concern, or the military facility which 
is the basis for the exception, as applicable; 

b. Unavailability of any mitigating measures to manage the type, character, intensity, 
hours, season or location of such use so that agricultural resources, fragile coastal 
resources, public safety, or military security, as applicable, are protected; 

c. Ability of the public, through another reasonable means, to reach the same area of 
public tidelands as would be made accessible by an accessway on the subject land. 

 

• The project is not requesting a Public Access Exception, therefore these findings 
do not apply. 

 
4. Findings for Management Plan Conditions. Written findings in support of a 

condition requiring a management plan for regulating the time and manner or 
character of public access use must address the following factors, as applicable: 
a. Identification and protection of specific habitat values including the reasons 

supporting the conclusions that such values must be protected by limiting the hours, 
seasons, or character of public use; 

 

• The project is located in a residential area without sensitive habitat areas. 
 

b. Topographic constraints of the development site; 
 

• The project is located on a flat lot. 
 

c. Recreational needs of the public; 
 

• The project does not impact the recreational needs of the public. 
 

d. Rights of privacy of the landowner which could not be mitigated by setting the project 
back from the access way or otherwise conditioning the development; 

e. The requirements of the possible accepting agency, if an offer of dedication is the 
mechanism for securing public access; 

f. Feasibility of adequate setbacks, fencing, landscaping, and other methods as part of 
a management plan to regulate public use. 

 
5. Project complies with public access requirements, including submittal of 

appropriate legal documents to ensure the right of public access whenever, and 
as, required by the certified land use plan and Section 17.46.010 (coastal access 
requirements); 

 

• No legal documents to ensure public access rights are required for the proposed 
project. 

 
6. Project complies with visitor-serving and recreational use policies; 

 
SEC. 30222 

6.A

Packet Pg. 47



 
 

 

The use of private lands suitable for visitor-serving commercial recreational 
facilities designed to enhance public opportunities for coastal recreation shall 
have priority over private residential, general industrial, or general commercial 
development, but not over agriculture or coastal-dependent industry. 

 

• The project involves construction of a second-story addition and an internal 
Secondary Dwelling Unit on a residential lot of record. 

 
SEC. 30223 
Upland areas necessary to support coastal recreational uses shall be reserved for 
such uses, where feasible. 

 

• The project involves construction of a second-story addition and an internal 
Secondary Dwelling Unit on a residential lot of record. 

 
c) Visitor-serving facilities that cannot be feasibly located in existing developed 
areas shall be located in existing isolated developments or at selected points of 
attraction for visitors. 
 

• The project involves construction of a second-story addition and an internal 
Secondary Dwelling Unit on a residential lot of record. 

 
7. Project complies with applicable standards and requirements for provision of 

public and private parking, pedestrian access, alternate means of transportation 
and/or traffic improvements; 

 

• The project involves the construction of a second-story addition and an internal 
Secondary Dwelling Unit. The project complies with applicable standards and 
requirements for provision for parking, pedestrian access, alternate means of 
transportation, and/or traffic improvements. 

 
8. Review of project design, site plan, signing, lighting, landscaping, etc., by the 

city’s architectural and site review committee, and compliance with adopted 
design guidelines and standards, and review committee recommendations; 

 

• The project complies with the design guidelines and standards established by the 
Municipal Code. 

 
9. Project complies with LCP policies regarding protection of public landmarks, 

protection or provision of public views; and shall not block or detract from public 
views to and along Capitola’s shoreline; 

 

• The project will not negatively impact public landmarks and/or public views. The 
project will not block or detract from public views to and along Capitola’s shoreline. 

 
10. Demonstrated availability and adequacy of water and sewer services; 

 

• The project is located on a legal lot of record with available water and sewer 
services. 

 
11. Provisions of minimum water flow rates and fire response times; 

6.A

Packet Pg. 48



 
 

 

 

• The project is located 0.4 miles from the Central Fire Protection District Capitola 
Station. Water is available at the location. 

 
12. Project complies with water and energy conservation standards; 

 

• The project is for a second-story addition and an internal Secondary Dwelling Unit. 
The GHG emissions for the project are projected at less than significant impact. All 
water fixtures must comply with the low-flow standards of the Soquel Creek Water 
District. 

 
13. Provision of park dedication, school impact, and other fees as may be required; 

 

• The project will be required to pay appropriate fees prior to building permit issuance. 
 

14. Project complies with coastal housing policies, and applicable ordinances 
including condominium conversion and mobile home ordinances; 

 

• The project does not involve a condo conversion or mobile homes. 
 

15. Project complies with natural resource, habitat, and archaeological protection 
policies; 

 

• Conditions of approval have been included to ensure compliance with established 
policies. 

 
16. Project complies with Monarch butterfly habitat protection policies; 

 

• The project is outside of any identified sensitive habitats, specifically areas where 
Monarch Butterflies have been encountered, identified and documented. 

 
17. Project provides drainage and erosion and control measures to protect marine, 

stream, and wetland water quality from urban runoff and erosion; 
 

• Conditions of approval have been included to ensure compliance with applicable 
erosion control measures. 

 
18. Geologic/engineering reports have been prepared by qualified professional for 

projects in seismic areas, geologically unstable areas, or coastal bluffs, and 
project complies with hazard protection policies including provision of 
appropriate setbacks and mitigation measures; 

 

• Geologic/engineering reports have been prepared by qualified professionals for this 
project. Conditions of approval have been included to ensure the project applicant 
shall comply with all applicable requirements of the most recent version of the 
California Building Standards Code. 

 
19. All other geological, flood and fire hazards are accounted for and mitigated in the 

project design; 
 

6.A

Packet Pg. 49



 
 

 

• Conditions of approval have been included to ensure the project complies with 
geological, flood, and fire hazards and are accounted for and will be mitigated in the 
project design. 

 
20. Project complies with shoreline structure policies; 

 

• The proposed project is not located along a shoreline. 
 

21. The uses proposed are consistent with the permitted or conditional uses of the 
zoning district in which the project is located; 

 

• This use is an allowed use consistent with the R-1 zoning district. 
 

22. Conformance to requirements of all other city ordinances, zoning requirements, 
and project review procedures; and 

 

• The project conforms to the requirements of all city ordinances, zoning requirements, 
and project development review and development procedures. 

 
23. Project complies with the Capitola parking permit program as follows: 

a. The village area preferential parking program areas and conditions as established in 
Resolution No. 2596 and no permit parking of any kind shall be allowed on Capitola 
Avenue. 

b. The neighborhood preferential parking program areas are as established in 
Resolution Numbers 2433 and 2510. 

c. The village area preferential parking program shall be limited to three hundred fifty 
permits. 

d. Neighborhood permit areas are only in force when the shuttle bus is operating except 
that: 
i. The Fanmar area (Resolution No. 2436) program may operate year-round, 

twenty-four hours a day on weekends, 
ii. The Burlingame, Cliff Avenue/Grand Avenue area (Resolution No. 2435) have 

year-round, twenty-four hour per day “no public parking.” 
e. Except as specifically allowed under the village parking program, no preferential 

residential parking may be allowed in the Cliff Drive parking areas. 
f. Six Depot Hill twenty-four minute “Vista” parking spaces (Resolution No. 2510) shall 

be provided as corrected in Exhibit A attached to the ordinance codified in this 
section and found on file in the office of the city clerk. 

g. A limit of fifty permits for the Pacific Cove parking lot may be issued to village permit 
holders and transient occupancy permit holders. 

h. No additional development in the village that intensifies use and requires additional 
parking shall be permitted. Changes in use that do not result in additional parking 
demand can be allowed and exceptions for onsite parking as allowed in the 
land use plan can be made. 

 

• The project site is not located within the area of the Capitola parking permit 
program. 

 
ATTACHMENTS:  

1. 511 Escalona Drive - Full Plan Set - 07.01.2019 
2. 511 Escalona Drive - Wall Elevations for Major Revocable Encroachment Permit - Letter 

6.A

Packet Pg. 50



 
 

 

3. 511 Escalona Drive - 80 Percent Nonconforming Calculation 
 
Prepared By: Matt Orbach 
  Associate Planner 

6.A

Packet Pg. 51



                                                                 

                                                

 

REM
O

D
EL A

N
D

 69 SF A
D

D
ITIO

N
 TO

 (E) A
D

U, RESULTIN
G

 IN
 A

 1 BR/1BA
, 499

SF A
D

U. C
O

N
V

ERSIO
N

 O
F (E) UN

C
O

N
D

ITIO
N

ED
 680 SF W

O
RKSHO

P IN
TO

HA
BITA

BLE SPA
C

E, A
D

D
IN

G
 A

 TO
TA

L O
F 961 C

O
N

D
ITIO

N
ED

 SF TO
 (E) 1,225

SF 2BR, 2BA
 M

A
IN

 RESID
EN

C
E RESULTIN

G
 IN

 A
 2,186 SF 4BR, 3BA

 W
ITH N

EW
LIV

IN
G

 RO
O

M
 A

N
D

 BA
R W

ITH 620 SQ
.FT. O

F G
A

RA
G

E/STO
RA

G
E.

2 C
O

V
ERED

 A
N

D
 2 UN

C
O

V
ERED

036-125-02

3,411 SQ
.FT.  (61.8%

)

5,513 SQ
.FT.

TYPE V
-B- N

O
N

-SPRIN
KLERED

511 ESC
A

LO
N

A
 D

RIV
E

C
A

PITO
LA

, C
A

 95010

PA
RKIN

G
 (PRO

V
ID

ED
):

PA
RC

EL N
UM

BER:

EXISTIN
G

 F.A
.R.:

O
C

C
UPA

N
C

Y C
LA

SSIFIC
A

TIO
N

:

LO
T A

REA
:

PRO
JEC

T D
ESC

RIPTIO
N

PRO
JEC

T A
D

D
RESS:

ZO
N

IN
G

 D
ESIG

N
A

TIO
N

:
R-3-U

T1:
TITLE SHEET

A
5:

EXISTIN
G

 ELEV
A

TIO
N

S

A
6:

PRO
PO

SED
 FIRST FLO

O
R PLA

N

PRO
JEC

T D
ESIG

N
ER:

V
A

LERIE HA
RT RESID

EN
TIA

L D
ESIG

N
V

A
LERIE HA

RT
3680 N

. RO
D

EO
 G

ULC
H RO

A
D

SO
Q

UEL, C
A

 95073
PH:    (831) 239-1609
valerie95062@

yahoo.com

C
HRISTIN

E M
ESERV

E
P.O

. BO
X 320973

LO
S G

A
TO

S, C
A

 95032
PH:    (408) 504-4412

O
W

N
ER:

A
RC

HITEC
TURA

L SHEETS:

A
LL W

O
RK IN

D
IC

A
TED

 O
N

 THE PLA
N

S SHA
LL C

O
M

PLY W
ITH THE FO

LLO
W

IN
G

 C
O

D
ES: 2016 C

BC
, C

RC
, C

M
C

,
C

PC
, C

A
 ELEC

T C
O

D
E, C

A
L G

REEN
, C

A
 EN

ERG
Y C

O
D

E. STRUC
TURA

L EN
G

IN
EERIN

G
 SHA

LL C
O

N
FO

RM
 TO

 2016
C

A
LIFO

RN
IA

 BUILD
IN

G
 C

O
D

E. (I.E., 2016 IRC
, IBC

, UM
C

, UPC
, A

N
D

 2016 N
EC

) A
S A

M
EN

D
ED

 BY THE STA
TE O

F
C

A
LIFO

RN
IA

.

C
O

D
E N

O
TE:

TITLE SHEET
T1

R-1

PA
RC

EL M
A

P

V
IC

IN
ITY M

A
P

BUILD
IN

G
 IN

FO
RM

A
TIO

N
 SUM

M
A

RY
C

O
N

TA
C

TS

A
9:

PRO
PO

SED
 ELEV

A
TIO

N
S

D
RA

W
IN

G
 IN

D
EX

A
2:

EXISTIN
G

/ D
EM

O
LITIO

N
 FIRST FLO

O
R PLA

N

A
7:

PRO
PO

SED
 SEC

O
N

D
 FLO

O
R PLA

N

A
3:

EXISTIN
G

/D
EM

O
LITIO

N
 SEC

O
N

D
 FLO

O
R PLA

N

V
A

LERIE HA
RT RESID

EN
TIA

L D
ESIG

N

3680 N
. RO

D
EO

 G
ULC

H RD
.SO

Q
UEL, C

A
  95073

(831) 239-1609    valerie95062@
yahoo.com

SHEET:
m

eserve resid
ence

511 escalona d
rive, capitola, ca 95010

apn: 036-125-02

PLA
N

N
IN

G
 SUBM

ITTA
L :

FEBRUA
RY 08, 2019

PLA
N

 C
HEC

K O
N

E:
M

A
Y 24, 2019

MESERVE RESIDENCEMESERVE RESIDENCE

A
RC

H &
 SITE C

O
M

M
EN

TS:
JULY 01, 2019

FRO
N

T YA
RD

REQ
UIRED

EXISTIN
G

SID
E YA

RD

HEIG
HT

1st STO
RY

2nd
 STO

RY

15'-0"

20'-0"

25'-0"
23'-8"

FLO
O

R A
REA

 RA
TIO

LO
T SIZE

M
A

X (60%
)

EXISTIN
G

 (61.8%
)

5,513 sq.ft.
3,312 sq.ft.

3,411 sq.ft.

HA
BITA

BLE
SPA

C
E

TO
TA

L

(E) 1st STO
RY

(E) 2nd
 STO

RY

837 sq.ft.

FIRST FLO
O

R
C

O
V

ERED
 D

EC
K

O
R PO

RC
H

454 sq.ft.*
2,343 sq.ft.

(E) TO
TA

L

388 sq.ft.
-

1,068 sq.ft.

1,225 sq.ft.
3,411 sq.ft.

REQ
UIRED

EXISTIN
G

 (N
O

 C
HA

N
G

E)

4 SPA
C

ES, O
N

E O
F W

HIC
H M

UST BE
C

O
V

ERED

TO
TA

L
4 SPA

C
ES

4 SPA
C

ES

*  THERE IS A
 C

RED
IT O

F 150 sq.ft. FO
R FIRST FLO

O
R C

O
V

ERED
 PO

RC
HES A

N
D

 UPSTA
IRS D

EC
KS

1st STO
RY - G

A
RA

G
E (SID

EW
A

LK EXEM
PT A

REA
)

304 sq.ft.

<150 sq.ft.>

G
A

RA
G

E

772 sq.ft.

772 sq.ft.

-

A
C

C
ESSO

RY
D

W
ELLIN

G
UN

IT

-

430 sq. ft.

4 SPA
C

ES, TW
O

 O
F W

HIC
H A

RE
C

O
V

ERED

430 sq. ft.

STRUC
TURA

L D
A

TA
SETBA

C
KS

21'-1
14 "

33'-2
34 "

C
O

RN
ER LO

T

1st STO
RY STREET SID

E
10'-0"

15'-0"

15'-0"
22'-3"

18'-0"
15'-0"

1st STO
RY (SO

UTH SID
E- 10%

 LO
T W

ID
TH)

5'-1"
11'-0"

7'-6"
7'-9"

W
O

RKSHO
P

680 sq.ft.

680 sq.ft.

-

PA
RKIN

G

1st STO
RY (W

EST SID
E- 10%

 N
EIG

HBO
R W

ID
TH)

5'-0"
9'-9"

PRO
PO

SED
 (59.9%

)

3,305 sq.ft.

(P) 1st STO
RY

(P) 2nd
 STO

RY

933 sq.ft.
128 sq.ft.*

2,037 sq.ft.

1,268 sq.ft.
-

1,268 sq.ft.
<150 sq.ft.>

605 sq.ft.

-
-

499 sq. ft.
-

2,201 sq.ft.
3,305 sq.ft.

0 sq.ft.
605 sq.ft.

499 sq. ft.
(P) TO

TA
L

--

3,305 SQ
.FT.  (59.9%

)
PRO

PO
SED

 F.A
.R.:

A
1.1:EXISTIN

G
 SITE PLA

N

A
1.2:PRO

PO
SED

 SITE PLA
N

A
4:

EXISTIN
G

 RO
O

F PLA
N

A
10:

PRO
PO

SED
 ELEV

A
TIO

N
S

1.
A

LL REFEREN
C

ES TO
 "C

O
N

TRA
C

TO
R" SHA

LL IN
D

IC
A

TE G
EN

ERA
L C

O
N

TRA
C

TO
R A

N
D

 THE
SUBC

O
N

TRA
C

TO
RS IN

 HIS EM
PLO

Y; THEY SHA
LL BE O

N
E IN

 THE SA
M

E.
2.

   THE STRUC
TURA

L, M
EC

HA
N

IC
A

L, ELEC
TRIC

A
L A

N
D

 LA
N

D
SC

A
PE D

RA
W

IN
G

S A
RE

SUPPLEM
EN

TA
RY TO

 THE D
ESIG

N
 D

RA
W

IN
G

S. IT SHA
LL BE THE RESPO

N
SIBILITY O

F THE
C

O
N

TRA
C

TO
R TO

 C
HEC

K W
ITH THE D

ESIG
N

 D
RA

W
IN

G
S BEFO

RE THE IN
STA

LLA
TIO

N
 O

F
STRUC

TURA
L, M

EC
HA

N
IC

A
L, ELEC

TRIC
A

L A
N

D
 LA

N
D

SC
A

PE W
O

RK. SHO
ULD

 THERE BE A
D

ISC
REPA

N
C

Y BETW
EEN

 THE D
ESIG

N
 D

RA
W

IN
G

S A
N

D
 THE C

O
N

SULTA
N

TS' D
RA

W
IN

G
S, IT SHA

LL BE
BRO

UG
HT TO

 THE A
TTEN

TIO
N

 O
F THE D

ESIG
N

ER FO
R C

LA
RIFIC

A
TIO

N
 PRIO

R TO
 IN

STA
LLA

TIO
N

 O
F

SA
ID

 W
O

RK. A
N

Y W
O

RK IN
STA

LLED
 IN

 C
O

N
FLIC

T W
ITH THE D

ESIG
N

 D
RA

W
IN

G
S SHA

LL BE
C

O
RREC

TED
 BY THE C

O
N

TRA
C

TO
R A

T HIS EXPEN
SE A

N
D

 A
T N

O
 A

D
D

ITIO
N

A
L C

O
ST TO

 THE
O

W
N

ER.
3.

PRO
V

ID
E A

LL LA
BO

R, M
A

TERIA
L A

N
D

 SERV
IC

ES REQ
UIRED

 FO
R THE SA

TISFA
C

TO
RY

C
O

M
PLETIO

N
 O

F W
O

RK SHO
W

N
 IN

 THESE D
RA

W
IN

G
S. W

O
RK SHA

LL BE O
F SO

UN
D

 A
N

D
 Q

UA
LITY

C
O

N
STRUC

TIO
N

 A
N

D
 C

O
N

TRA
C

TO
R SHA

LL BE SO
LELY RESPO

N
SIBLE FO

R THE IN
C

LUSIO
N

 O
F

A
D

EQ
UA

TE LA
BO

R, M
A

TERIA
LS A

N
D

 EQ
UIPM

EN
T TO

 C
O

V
ER THE TIM

ELY IN
STA

LLA
TIO

N
 O

F THE
ITEM

S IN
D

IC
A

TED
, D

ESC
RIBED

 O
R IM

PLIED
.

4.
 W

O
RK PERFO

RM
ED

 SHA
LL C

O
M

PLY W
ITH THE FO

LLO
W

IN
G

:
(A

)
 A

LL A
PPLIC

A
BLE LO

C
A

L A
N

D
 STA

TE C
O

D
ES, O

RD
IN

A
N

C
ES A

N
D

 REG
ULA

TIO
N

S.
(B)

 THE C
URREN

T ED
ITIO

N
 O

F THE C
A

LIFO
RN

IA
 BUILD

IN
G

 C
O

D
E.

(C
)

 THESE G
EN

ERA
L N

O
TES, UN

LESS O
THERW

ISE N
O

TED
 O

N
 PLA

N
S O

R SPEC
IFIC

A
TIO

N
S.

(D
)

 SEPA
RA

TE PLA
N

S FO
R ELEC

TRIC
A

L, PLUM
BIN

G
, HEA

TIN
G

 A
N

D
 A

IR C
O

N
D

ITIO
N

IN
G

  SHA
LL

BE SUBM
ITTED

 BY C
O

N
TRA

C
TO

R  TO
 THE RESPEC

TIV
E D

EPA
RTM

EN
TS FO

R A
PPRO

V
A

L A
N

D
 PERM

IT,
C

O
N

TRA
C

TO
R SHA

LL PA
Y FO

R THE RESPEC
TIV

E PERM
IT FEES A

N
D

 SUPPLY C
O

PIES TO
 O

W
N

ER.
5.

  BEFO
RE SUBM

ITTIN
G

 HIS BID
, C

O
N

TRA
C

TO
R SHA

LL EXA
M

IN
E THE SITE TO

 C
O

M
PA

RE IT W
ITH

THE PLA
N

S A
N

D
 N

O
TES, A

N
D

 SA
TISFY HIM

SELF A
S TO

 THE C
O

N
D

ITIO
N

S UN
D

ER W
HIC

H THIS W
O

RK
W

ILL BE PERFO
RM

ED
. C

O
N

TRA
C

TO
R SHA

LL A
T THA

T TIM
E A

SC
ERTA

IN
 THE LO

C
A

TIO
N

 O
F A

N
Y

EXISTIN
G

 STRUC
TURES O

R C
O

N
D

ITIO
N

S THA
T M

A
Y A

FFEC
T THIS W

O
RK. N

O
 A

LLO
W

A
N

C
E SHA

LL
SUBSEQ

UEN
TLY BE M

A
D

E FO
R C

O
N

TRA
C

TO
R'S FA

ILURE O
R N

EG
LEC

T TO
 M

A
KE SUC

H
EXA

M
IN

A
TIO

N
S A

N
D

 D
ETERM

IN
A

TIO
N

S. C
O

N
TRA

C
TO

R SHA
LL V

ERIFY A
LL Q

UA
N

TITIES BEFO
RE

SUBM
ITTIN

G
 HIS BID

.
6.

     C
O

N
TRA

C
TO

R SHA
LL C

A
REFULLY STUD

Y A
N

D
 C

O
M

PA
RE THE C

O
N

TRA
C

T D
O

C
UM

EN
TS

A
N

D
 V

ERIFY A
LL D

IM
EN

SIO
N

S A
N

D
 C

O
N

D
ITIO

N
S O

N
 THE JO

B A
N

D
 A

T O
N

C
E REPO

RT A
N

Y ERRO
R,

IN
C

O
N

SISTEN
C

Y O
R O

M
ISSIO

N
 HE M

A
Y D

ISC
O

V
ER TO

 THE D
ESIG

N
ER.

7.
 D

O
 N

O
T SC

A
LE D

RA
W

IN
G

S. W
RITTEN

 D
IM

EN
SIO

N
S O

N
 THESE D

RA
W

IN
G

S SHA
LL HA

V
E

PREC
ED

EN
C

E O
V

ER SC
A

LED
 D

IM
EN

SIO
N

S.  LA
RG

E SC
A

LE A
N

D
 FULL SIZE D

RA
W

IN
G

S SHA
LL BE

FO
LLO

W
ED

 IN
 PREFEREN

C
E TO

 SM
A

LL SC
A

LED
 M

EA
SUREM

EN
TS.

8.
  A

 C
O

M
PLETE SET O

F PRIN
TS W

ILL BE PRO
V

ID
ED

 W
HIC

H SHA
LL BE M

A
IN

TA
IN

ED
 IN

 G
O

O
D

O
RD

ER A
T THE SITE. A

LL D
IFFEREN

C
ES BETW

EEN
 THE LO

C
A

TIO
N

S O
R A

RRA
N

G
EM

EN
TS IN

D
IC

A
TED

O
N

 THESE D
RA

W
IN

G
S A

N
D

 THO
SE O

F THE A
C

TUA
L IN

STA
LLA

TIO
N

 SHA
LL BE REC

O
RD

ED
 IN

 RED
PEN

C
IL O

N
 THA

T SET. A
T THE C

O
M

PLETIO
N

 O
F THE PRO

JEC
T A

N
D

 PRIO
R TO

 FIN
A

L PA
YM

EN
T,

C
O

N
TRA

C
TO

R SHA
LL SIG

N
 A

N
D

 D
A

TE EA
C

H "A
S BUILT" D

RA
W

IN
G

 A
S BEIN

G
 A

 C
O

RREC
T A

N
D

A
C

C
URA

TE REPRESEN
TA

TIO
N

 O
F THE W

O
RK, A

N
D

 SHA
LL SUBM

IT THE C
O

M
PLETE PA

C
KA

G
E TO

D
ESIG

N
ER.

9.
 A

LL SYM
BO

LS A
N

D
 A

BBREV
IA

TIO
N

S USED
 O

N
 THE D

RA
W

IN
G

S A
RE C

O
N

SID
ERED

 TO
 BE

C
O

N
STRUC

TIO
N

 STA
N

D
A

RD
S. IF C

O
N

TRA
C

TO
R HA

S Q
UESTIO

N
S REG

A
RD

IN
G

 SA
M

E, O
R THEIR

EXA
C

T M
EA

N
IN

G
,  D

ESIG
N

ER SHA
LL BE N

O
TIFIED

 FO
R C

LA
RIFIC

A
TIO

N
.

10.
 A

LL D
IM

EN
SIO

N
S A

RE TO
 FA

C
E O

F C
O

N
C

RETE, C
O

LUM
N

 G
RID

 LIN
ES, FA

C
E O

F C
O

N
C

RETE
BLO

C
K W

A
LLS,FA

C
E O

F STUD
S A

N
D

 FA
C

E O
F FO

A
M

 BLO
C

K UN
LESS O

THERW
ISE N

O
TED

.
11.

C
O

N
TRA

C
TO

R SHA
LL V

ERIFY SIZES A
N

D
 LO

C
A

TIO
N

S O
F A

LL M
EC

HA
N

IC
A

L EQ
UIPM

EN
T

PA
D

S A
N

D
 BA

SES A
S W

ELL A
S PO

W
ER A

N
D

 W
A

TER O
R D

RA
IN

 IN
STA

LLA
TIO

N
S W

ITH EQ
UIPM

EN
T

M
A

N
UFA

C
TURERS BEFO

RE PRO
C

EED
IN

G
 W

ITH THE W
O

RK.
12.

 IT IS THE RESPO
N

SIBILITY O
F THE C

O
N

TRA
C

TO
R TO

 PRO
TEC

T A
N

Y EXISTIN
G

 UTILITY BO
XES.

A
N

Y D
A

M
A

G
ED

 BO
XES SHA

LL BE BRO
UG

HT TO
 THE A

TTEN
TIO

N
 O

F  THE TO
W

N
 IN

SPEC
TO

R PRIO
R

TO
 A

N
Y W

O
RK.

13.
C

O
N

TRA
C

TO
R TO

 V
ERIFY W

ITH HO
M

EO
W

N
ERS A

LL FIN
A

L A
PPLIA

N
C

ES, FIN
ISHES A

N
D

A
V

A
ILA

BILITY PRIO
R TO

 LO
C

A
TIN

G
 RO

UG
H O

PEN
IN

G
, PLUM

BIN
G

 A
N

D
 ELEC

TRIC
A

L.
C

O
N

TRA
C

TO
R TO

 C
O

O
RD

IN
A

TE A
PPLIA

N
C

E IN
STA

LLA
TIO

N
 W

ITH A
LL A

PPLIC
A

BLE TRA
D

ES A
S

SPEC
IFIED

 BY THE M
A

N
UFA

C
TURER'S IN

STA
LLA

TIO
N

 IN
STRUC

TIO
N

S.
14.

C
O

N
TRA

C
TO

R TO
 V

ERIFY W
ITH HO

M
EO

W
N

ERS A
LL FIN

A
L M

A
TERIA

LS, FIXTURES A
N

D
EQ

UIPM
EN

T PRIO
R TO

 O
RD

ERIN
G

. G
EN

ERA
L N

O
TES

2nd
 STO

RY - G
A

RA
G

E (SID
EW

A
LK EXEM

PT A
REA

)

2nd
 STO

RY - (W
EST SID

E)
A

8:
PRO

PO
SED

 RO
O

F PLA
N

SURV
EYO

R:
A

LPHA
 LA

N
D

 SURV
EYO

RS, IN
C

.
JEA

N
-PA

UL HA
PPEE

4444 SC
O

TTS V
A

LLEY D
RIV

E #
7

SC
O

TTS V
A

LLEY, C
A

 95066
PH:    (831)438-4453

-
SURV

EY

12

2
2

2

6.A.1

Packet Pg. 52

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 5

11
 E

sc
al

o
n

a 
D

ri
ve

 -
 F

u
ll 

P
la

n
 S

et
 -

 0
7.

01
.2

01
9 

 (
51

1 
E

sc
al

o
n

a 
D

ri
ve

)



6.A.1

Packet Pg. 53

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 5

11
 E

sc
al

o
n

a 
D

ri
ve

 -
 F

u
ll 

P
la

n
 S

et
 -

 0
7.

01
.2

01
9 

 (
51

1 
E

sc
al

o
n

a 
D

ri
ve

)



PA
RKIN

G
 #

3
8.5'x16' C

O
M

PA
C

T

(S 73°54'32" W)(B) (51.50')(A)

(S 29°58'00" E 104.31')

(N 60°02'00" E 50.00')

(S 29°58'00" E 116.63')

O
H

O
H

O
H

OH

OH

LIN
E O

F (E) 681 SF W
O

RKSHO
P A

BO
V

E O
FFIC

E

(E) G
A

TE

(E) C
O

V
ERED

 PO
RC

H

(E) 230 S.F. C
O

V
ERED

C
A

RPO
RT TO

 BE
REM

O
V

ED

REM
O

V
E (E) PO

STS

LIN
E O

F UPPER FLO
O

R

LINE OF UPPER FLOOR

LIN
E O

F UPPER FLO
O

R

(E) G
A

S

W
A

TER
M

ETER

PA
RTIA

LLY REM
O

V
E

W
A

LKW
A

Y SEE SHEET A
1.2

(E) 200 A
M

P
M

A
IN

 PA
N

EL

(E) LEM
O

N
 TREE TO

REM
A

IN

(E) PA
RA

G
UA

Y
N

IG
HTSHA

D
E TO

REM
A

IN

V
A

RIO
US

G
RO

UN
D

C
O

V
ER

A
N

D
 PLA

N
TS TO

 BE
REM

O
V

ED

N
O

N
-RETA

IN
IN

G
 W

A
LL

(E) C
O

N
C

RETE D
RIV

EW
A

Y

PA
RKIN

G
 #

4
10'x20' C

O
V

ERED
PA

RKIN
G

 #
3

10'x20' C
O

V
ERED

LIN
E O

F (E) 681 SF W
O

RKSHO
P A

BO
V

E G
A

RA
G

E

LIN
E O

F (E) 681 SF W
O

RKSHO
P A

BO
V

E O
FFIC

E

REM
O

V
E (E)

LA
N

D
IN

G

REM
O

V
E PO

STS A
N

D
 RO

O
F

A
T (E) C

O
V

ERED
 PA

TIO

REM
O

V
E (E) LA

N
D

IN
G

(E) 1,226 SQ
.FT. S.F.D

.

(E) 430 SF O
FFIC

E

12'-3 12 "

(E) 772 SF G
A

RA
G

E

(E) C
O

N
C

RETE
D

RIV
EW

A
Y

PG
&

E

JO
IN

T PO
LE

C
O

M
M

. PED
ESTA

L
ED

G
E O

F PA
V

EM
EN

T
G

V

(E) NON-RETAINING WALL UNDER 42"
(E) N

O
N

-RETA
IN

IN
G

 W
A

LL < 42"

9'-101
2"

A
REA

 O
F N

EW
 C

O
N

STRUC
TIO

N 5'-91
4"

LIN
E O

F (E) 681 SF W
O

RKSHO
P A

BO
V

E G
A

RA
G

E

4' SETBACK (ADJACENT PARCEL S.Y.S.B.)

6' SECOND FLOOR SETBACK

(E) G
A

TE

20' UPPER FLOOR SETBACK

15' FIRST FLOOR SETBACK

5' FIRST FLO
O

R SETBA
C

K (A
D

JA
C

EN
T PA

RC
EL S.Y.S.B.)

7'-6" SEC
O

N
D

 FLO
O

R SETBA
C

K

10' C
O

RN
ER LO

T FIRST FLO
O

R SETBA
C

K

15'  C
O

RN
ER LO

T SEC
O

N
D

 FLO
O

R SETBA
C

K

18' G
A

RA
G

E SETBA
C

K

V
A

RIO
US (E) PLA

N
TS

TO
 REM

A
IN

LIN
E O

F UPPER FLO
O

R

V
A

RIO
US

G
RO

UN
D

C
O

V
ER

PLA
N

T TO
 REM

A
IN

REM
O

V
E (E) W

A
LL

39'-9 34 "

8'-81
2"

7'-111
4"

                                                                 

                                                

 

EXISTIN
G

 SITE PLA
N

SC
A

LE: 1/4" = 1'-0"
A

1.1

N

V
A

LERIE HA
RT RESID

EN
TIA

L D
ESIG

N

3680 N
. RO

D
EO

 G
ULC

H RD
.SO

Q
UEL, C

A
  95073

(831) 239-1609    valerie95062@
yahoo.com

SHEET:
m

eserve resid
ence

511 escalona d
rive, capitola, ca 95010

apn: 036-125-02

PLA
N

N
IN

G
 SUBM

ITTA
L :

FEBRUA
RY 08, 2019

PLA
N

 C
HEC

K O
N

E:
M

A
Y 24, 2019

MESERVE RESIDENCEMESERVE RESIDENCE

1

1

1

6.A.1

Packet Pg. 54

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 5

11
 E

sc
al

o
n

a 
D

ri
ve

 -
 F

u
ll 

P
la

n
 S

et
 -

 0
7.

01
.2

01
9 

 (
51

1 
E

sc
al

o
n

a 
D

ri
ve

)



LIN
E O

F UPPER FLO
O

R

W
A

TER
M

ETER

(S 73°54'32" W)(B) (51.50')(A)

(S 29°58'00" E 104.31')

(N 60°02'00" E 50.00')

(S 29°58'00" E 116.63')

O
H

O
H

O
H

OH

OH

(E) G
A

TE

(E) C
O

V
ERED

 PO
RC

H

REM
O

V
E (E) PO

STS

LINE OF UPPER FLOOR

LIN
E O

F UPPER FLO
O

R

(E) G
A

S

PA
RTIA

LLY REM
O

V
E

W
A

LKW
A

Y SEE SHEET A
1.2

(E) 200 A
M

P
M

A
IN

 PA
N

EL

(E) C
O

N
C

RETE D
RIV

EW
A

Y

(E) LEM
O

N
 TREE TO

REM
A

IN

(E) PA
RA

G
UA

Y
N

IG
HTSHA

D
E TO

REM
A

IN

V
A

RIO
US

G
RO

UN
D

C
O

V
ER

A
N

D
 PLA

N
TS TO

 BE
REM

O
V

ED

N
O

N
-RETA

IN
IN

G
 W

A
LL

PA
RKIN

G
 #

4
10'x20' C

O
V

ERED

12'-3 12 "

JO
IN

T PO
LE

PA
RKIN

G
 #

3
10'x20' C

O
V

ERED

(E) 1,226 SQ
.FT. S.F.D

.

(E) C
O

N
C

RETE
D

RIV
EW

A
Y

G
V

PG
&

E

C
O

M
M

. PED
ESTA

L

(E) NON-RETAINING WALL UNDER

ED
G

E O
F PA

V
EM

EN
T

4' SETBACK (ADJACENT PARCEL S.Y.S.B.)

9'-101
2"

(E) N
O

N
-RETA

IN
IN

G
 W

A
LL

(E) G
A

TE

A
REA

 O
F N

EW
 C

O
N

STRUC
TIO

N

6' SECOND FLOOR SETBACK

7'-6" SEC
O

N
D

 FLO
O

R SETBA
C

K

5'-9" TO
FINISHED WALL

10' C
O

RN
ER LO

T FIRST FLO
O

R SETBA
C

K

5' FIRST FLO
O

R SETBA
C

K (A
D

JA
C

EN
T PA

RC
EL S.Y.S.B.)

15' FIRST FLOOR SETBACK

20' UPPER FLOOR SETBACK

15'  C
O

RN
ER LO

T SEC
O

N
D

 FLO
O

R SETBA
C

K

18' G
A

RA
G

E SETBA
C

K

V
A

RIO
US (E) PLA

N
TS

TO
 REM

A
IN

LIN
E O

F UPPER FLO
O

R

V
A

RIO
US

G
RO

UN
D

C
O

V
ER

PLA
N

T TO
 REM

A
IN

D
.S.

LIN
E O

F UPPER FLO
O

R
LIN

E O
F UPPER FLO

O
R

D
.S.

69 sq.ft. A
D

D
ITIO

N

D
.S.

(N
) STA

M
PED

C
O

N
C

RETE PA
TIO

SLOPE 2%

(N
) STA

M
PED

C
O

N
C

RETE PA
TIO

(N
) LA

N
D

IN
G

SLO
PE 2%

SLO
PE 2%

SLO
PE 2%

SLO
PE 2%

A
A

D
.S.D

.S.

D
.S.

D
.S.

D
.S.

D
.S.

2'-0"
PLA

N
TIN

G
STRIP

REPLA
C

E 150 S.F.
(E) HA

RD
SC

A
PE

W
ITH C

O
N

C
RETE

D
RIV

EW
A

Y A
T (2)

N
EW

 PA
RKIN

G
SPA

C
ES

PA
RKIN

G
 #

1
9'x18' UN

C
O

V
ERED

PA
RKIN

G
 #

2
9'x18' UN

C
O

V
ERED

(N
) G

A
TE

40'-11 14 "

8'-81
2"

33 SF G
A

RA
G

E STO
RA

G
E

587 SF G
A

RA
G

E

(E) O
FFIC

E TO
 BE

REC
O

G
N

IZED
 A

S  499 SQ
.FT.

A
TTA

C
HED

 A
D

U
(430 SQ

.FT. + 69 SQ
.FT.)

EXISTIN
G

 620 SQ
.FT.

N
O

N
-HA

BITA
BLE

W
O

RKSHO
P TO

 BE
REPLA

C
ED

 W
ITH 960 SQ

.FT.
O

F HA
BITA

BLE A
REA

(E) LA
N

D
SC

A
PE

TO
 REM

A
IN

(E) LA
N

D
SC

A
PE

TO
 REM

A
IN

                                                                 

                                                

 

PRO
PO

SED
 SITE PLA

N
SC

A
LE: 1/4" = 1'-0"

A
1.2

N

V
A

LERIE HA
RT RESID

EN
TIA

L D
ESIG

N

3680 N
. RO

D
EO

 G
ULC

H RD
.SO

Q
UEL, C

A
  95073

(831) 239-1609    valerie95062@
yahoo.com

SHEET:
m

eserve resid
ence

511 escalona d
rive, capitola, ca 95010

apn: 036-125-02

PLA
N

N
IN

G
 SUBM

ITTA
L :

FEBRUA
RY 08, 2019

PLA
N

 C
HEC

K O
N

E:
M

A
Y 24, 2019

MESERVE RESIDENCEMESERVE RESIDENCE

N
O

TE:  PRIO
R TO

 A
N

Y W
O

RK IN
 THE C

ITY RO
A

D
RIG

HT O
F W

A
Y, A

N
 EN

C
RO

A
C

HM
EN

T PERM
IT

SHA
LL BE A

C
Q

UIRED
 BY THE C

O
N

TRA
C

TO
R

PERFO
RM

IN
G

 THE W
O

RK. N
O

 M
A

TERIA
L O

R
EQ

UIPM
EN

T STO
RA

G
E M

A
P BE PLA

C
ED

 IN
 THE

RO
A

D
 RIG

HT O
F W

A
Y.

IM
PERV

IO
US C

O
V

ERA
G

E C
A

LC
(E) IM

PERV
IO

US C
O

V
ERA

G
E:

BUILD
IN

G
:

HA
RD

SC
A

PE:
2,037 S.F.
2,566 S.F.

TO
TA

L (E):
4,603 S.F.

(N
) IM

PERV
IO

US C
O

V
ERA

G
E:

BUILD
IN

G
:

HA
RD

SC
A

PE:
2,037 S.F.
2,697 S.F.

TO
TA

L (N
):

4,734 S.F.
A

D
D

ED
 IM

PERV
IO

US C
O

V
ERA

G
E:

131 S.F.

REPLA
C

E IM
PERV

IO
US C

O
V

ERA
G

E:
HA

RD
SC

A
PE:

281 S.F.
1.  D

O
W

N
SPO

UTS SHA
LL D

ISC
HA

RG
E O

N
TO

 C
O

N
C

RETE SPLA
SH

BLO
C

KS A
N

D
 D

IREC
TED

 TO
 A

D
JA

C
EN

T LA
N

D
SC

A
PED

 A
REA

.

N
O

TES

STRA
W

 FIBER RO
LL D

ETA
IL

A
SC

A
LE: N

.T.S.

1

1

1

6.A.1

Packet Pg. 55

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 5

11
 E

sc
al

o
n

a 
D

ri
ve

 -
 F

u
ll 

P
la

n
 S

et
 -

 0
7.

01
.2

01
9 

 (
51

1 
E

sc
al

o
n

a 
D

ri
ve

)



KITC
HEN

E

FA
M

ILY
RO

O
M

E

UP

BED
RO

O
M

E

BA
TH

E

22'-1 12 "
5'-9"

13'-2"
39'-10" V

.I.F.

29'-11" V.I.F.

9'-1"  V
.I.F.

13'-2"

(E) G
A

S
(E) 200 A

M
P

M
A

IN
 PA

N
EL

FA
U

O
FFIC

E
E

BA
TH

E

29'-111
2"

13'-0" 3'-91
2" 13'-2"

33'-10"

(E) PO
STS A

N
D

 RO
O

F
TO

 BE REM
O

V
ED

 A
T

(E) PA
TIO

 (98 SQ
.FT.)

(E) 224 SQ
.FT.

C
A

RPO
RT TO

BE REM
O

V
ED

.

(E) LA
N

D
IN

G
TO

 BE
REM

O
V

ED

19'-8 12 "

7'-11"

15' FIRST FLOOR SETBACK

10' C
O

RN
ER LO

T FIRST FLO
O

R SETBA
C

K

(S 73°54'32" W)(B) (51.50')(A)

(S 29°58'00" E 104.31')

(N 60°02'00" E 50.00')

(S 29°58'00" E 116.63')

4' SETBACK (ADJACENT PARCEL S.Y.S.B.)

5' FIRST FLO
O

R SETBA
C

K (A
D

JA
C

EN
T PA

RC
EL S.Y.S.B.)

18' C
O

RN
ER LO

T G
A

RA
G

E SETBA
C

K

26'-6"
13'-4"

9'-1"

                                                                 

                                                

 

W
A

LL LEG
EN

D
EXISTIN

G
 STUD

 W
A

LL

D
EM

O
 STUD

 W
A

LL

EXISTIN
G

 LO
W

ER FLO
O

R PLA
N

SC
A

LE: 1/4" = 1'-0"
A

2

EXISTIN
G

/D
EM

O
 LO

W
ER FLO

O
R PLA

N

V
A

LERIE HA
RT RESID

EN
TIA

L D
ESIG

N

3680 N
. RO

D
EO

 G
ULC

H RD
.SO

Q
UEL, C

A
  95073

(831) 239-1609    valerie95062@
yahoo.com

SHEET:
m

eserve resid
ence

511 escalona d
rive, capitola, ca 95010

apn: 036-125-02

PLA
N

N
IN

G
 SUBM

ITTA
L :

FEBRUA
RY 08, 2019

PLA
N

 C
HEC

K O
N

E:
M

A
Y 24, 2019

MESERVE RESIDENCEMESERVE RESIDENCE

N

1
N

O
TE: PRO

PERTY LIN
ES A

N
D

STRUC
TURA

L D
IM

EN
SIO

N
S SHO

W
N

1

1

6.A.1

Packet Pg. 56

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 5

11
 E

sc
al

o
n

a 
D

ri
ve

 -
 F

u
ll 

P
la

n
 S

et
 -

 0
7.

01
.2

01
9 

 (
51

1 
E

sc
al

o
n

a 
D

ri
ve

)



W
O

RKSHO
P

E
W

O
RKSHO

P
E

M
A

STER
BED

RO
O

M
E

BA
THRO

O
M

-

W
A

LK-IN
C

LO
SET

-

16'-91
2" V.I.F

23'-1 12 " V
.I.F.

O
UTLIN

E O
F W

A
LL BELO

W

O
UTLIN

E O
F W

A
LL BELO

W

OUTLINE OF WALL BELOW

O
UTLIN

E O
F W

A
LL BELO

W

39'-10" V
.I.F.

70'-11 12 "

31'-1 12 "
39'-10"

9'-41
2"

13'-2"

16'-11
2"

(S 73°54'32" W)(B) (51.50')(A)

(S 29°58'00" E 104.31')

(N 60°02'00" E 50.00')

(S 29°58'00" E 116.63')

                                                                 

                                                

 

W
A

LL LEG
EN

D
EXISTIN

G
 STUD

 W
A

LL

D
EM

O
 STUD

 W
A

LL

EXISTIN
G

 UPPER FLO
O

R PLA
N

SC
A

LE: 1/4" = 1'-0"
A

3

EXISTIN
G

/D
EM

O
 UPPER FLO

O
R PLA

N

V
A

LERIE HA
RT RESID

EN
TIA

L D
ESIG

N

3680 N
. RO

D
EO

 G
ULC

H RD
.SO

Q
UEL, C

A
  95073

(831) 239-1609    valerie95062@
yahoo.com

SHEET:
m

eserve resid
ence

511 escalona d
rive, capitola, ca 95010

apn: 036-125-02

PLA
N

N
IN

G
 SUBM

ITTA
L :

FEBRUA
RY 08, 2019

PLA
N

 C
HEC

K O
N

E:
M

A
Y 24, 2019

MESERVE RESIDENCEMESERVE RESIDENCE

N

1
N

O
TE: PRO

PERTY LIN
ES A

N
D

STRUC
TURA

L D
IM

EN
SIO

N
S SHO

W
N

1

6.A.1

Packet Pg. 57

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 5

11
 E

sc
al

o
n

a 
D

ri
ve

 -
 F

u
ll 

P
la

n
 S

et
 -

 0
7.

01
.2

01
9 

 (
51

1 
E

sc
al

o
n

a 
D

ri
ve

)



23'-3 14 "

43'-1 12 "

33'-11"

5'-11 14 "

13'-2"

9'-4"

(E) RO
O

F A
T C

A
RPO

RT TO
 BE REM

O
V

ED

(E) ROOF AT COVERED PORCH TO BE REMOVED

A
LL C

O
N

C
RETE TILE RO

O
FIN

G
TO

 BE REM
O

V
ED

 A
N

D
 REPLA

C
ED

W
ITH A

SPHA
LT SHIN

G
LES BY G

A
F

EXC
EPT A

T C
A

RPO
RT A

N
D

C
O

V
ERED

 PO
RC

H, W
HERE RO

O
F

IS BEIN
G

 REM
O

V
ED

.

26'-1 12 "

12'-71
4"18'-101

4"

5'-5 12 "

6'-11"

13'-3"

20'-91
2"

(S 73°54'32" W)(B) (51.50')(A)

(S 29°58'00" E 104.31')

(N 60°02'00" E 50.00')

(S 29°58'00" E 116.63')

                                                                 

                                                

 

EXISTIN
G

 RO
O

F PLA
N

SC
A

LE: 1/4" = 1'-0"
A

4

EXISTIN
G

/D
EM

O
 RO

O
F PLA

N

V
A

LERIE HA
RT RESID

EN
TIA

L D
ESIG

N

3680 N
. RO

D
EO

 G
ULC

H RD
.SO

Q
UEL, C

A
  95073

(831) 239-1609    valerie95062@
yahoo.com

SHEET:
m

eserve resid
ence

511 escalona d
rive, capitola, ca 95010

apn: 036-125-02

PLA
N

N
IN

G
 SUBM

ITTA
L :

FEBRUA
RY 08, 2019

PLA
N

 C
HEC

K O
N

E:
M

A
Y 24, 2019

MESERVE RESIDENCEMESERVE RESIDENCE

N

1
N

O
TE: PRO

PERTY LIN
ES A

N
D

STRUC
TURA

L D
IM

EN
SIO

N
S SHO

W
N

6.A.1

Packet Pg. 58

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 5

11
 E

sc
al

o
n

a 
D

ri
ve

 -
 F

u
ll 

P
la

n
 S

et
 -

 0
7.

01
.2

01
9 

 (
51

1 
E

sc
al

o
n

a 
D

ri
ve

)



21'-11"

C
O

V
ERED

 PO
RC

H
RO

O
F A

N
D

 PO
STS

TO
 BE REM

O
V

ED

T.O
.SLA

B

T.O
.PLA

TE

11'-11"

19'-01
2"

A
LL C

O
N

C
RETE TILE RO

O
FIN

G
 TO

BE REM
O

V
ED

 A
N

D
 REPLA

C
ED

 W
ITH

M
IN

. C
LA

SS "B" A
SPHA

LT SHIN
G

LES

(E) C
A

RPO
RT

STRUC
TURE TO

 BE
REM

O
V

ED

A
LL C

O
N

C
RETE TILE RO

O
FIN

G
 TO

BE REM
O

V
ED

 A
N

D
 REPLA

C
ED

 W
ITH

M
IN

. C
LA

SS "B" A
SPHA

LT SHIN
G

LES

                                                                 

                                                

 

EXISTIN
G

 ELEV
A

TIO
N

S
SC

A
LE: 1/4" = 1'-0"

A
5

EXISTIN
G

 N
O

RTH ELEV
A

TIO
N

EXISTIN
G

 EA
ST ELEV

A
TIO

N

EXISTIN
G

 SO
UTH ELEV

A
TIO

N
EXISTIN

G
 W

EST ELEV
A

TIO
N

V
A

LERIE HA
RT RESID

EN
TIA

L D
ESIG

N

3680 N
. RO

D
EO

 G
ULC

H RD
.SO

Q
UEL, C

A
  95073

(831) 239-1609    valerie95062@
yahoo.com

SHEET:
m

eserve resid
ence

511 escalona d
rive, capitola, ca 95010

apn: 036-125-02

PLA
N

N
IN

G
 SUBM

ITTA
L :

FEBRUA
RY 08, 2019

PLA
N

 C
HEC

K O
N

E:
M

A
Y 24, 2019

MESERVE RESIDENCEMESERVE RESIDENCE

6.A.1

Packet Pg. 59

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 5

11
 E

sc
al

o
n

a 
D

ri
ve

 -
 F

u
ll 

P
la

n
 S

et
 -

 0
7.

01
.2

01
9 

 (
51

1 
E

sc
al

o
n

a 
D

ri
ve

)



10'x20'
C

O
V

ERED
PA

RKIN
G

BED
RO

O
M

E

UP

FA
M

ILY
RO

O
M

E

BA
TH

E

W
/H

22'-1 12 " V
.I.F.

39'-10" V
.I.F.

29'-11" V.I.F.

9'-1"  V
.I.F.

(E) G
A

S
(E) 200 A

M
P

M
A

IN
 PA

N
EL

FA
U

FA
U

A
D

U BA
TH

-
9'-2" X 5'-1"

A
D

U-
12'-9" X 23'-11"

3'-3"

linen/
storage

W
/H

(N
) HIG

H EFFIC
IEN

C
Y

O
UTD

O
O

R O
N

D
EM

A
N

D
 W

A
TER

HEA
TER 200,000 BTU

UP
15 R@

 7.5"
14 TR@

 10.5"

STO
RA

G
E

(N
) SKYLIG

HT

M
A

IN
 A

REA
 O

F PRO
PO

SED
 W

O
RK

PA
RA

PET RO
O

F A
BO

V
E

1'-0"

5'-7"

15' FIRST FLOOR SETBACK

10' C
O

RN
ER LO

T FIRST FLO
O

R SETBA
C

K

(S 73°54'32" W)(B) (51.50')(A)

(S 29°58'00" E 104.31')

(N 60°02'00" E 50.00')

(S 29°58'00" E 116.63')

4' SETBACK (ADJACENT PARCEL S.Y.S.B.)

5' FIRST FLO
O

R SETBA
C

K (A
D

JA
C

EN
T PA

RC
EL S.Y.S.B.)

20'-1"

10'x20'
C

O
V

ERED
PA

RKIN
G

18' C
O

RN
ER LO

T G
A

RA
G

E SETBA
C

K

10'-9"
12'-9 12 "

11'-11"
7 12 "

3'-9"

6'-6 34 "
5'-1 14 "

5'-6 14 "
24'-1" 5'-10"

3'-11"3'-8"

6'-13
4"8'-3"

2'-31
2" 8'-1" 19'-61

2"

5'-9"

29'-111
2"

(N
) STA

M
PED

 C
O

N
C

RETE D
EC

K
<18" A

BO
V

E G
RA

D
E

14'-0" X 8'-0"

(N
) STA

M
PED

C
O

N
C

RETE D
EC

K
<18" A

BO
V

E G
RA

D
E

8'-0" X 13'-0"

13'-0" 16'-111
2"

9'-0"

33'-10"
9'-1"

39'-10"

26'-6"
3'-6 12 "

9'-9 12 "

4'-7"
1'-8 12 "

4'-9 12 "
9'-6"

5'-11 12 "

3"

                                                                 

                                                

 

PRO
PO

SED
 LO

W
ER FLO

O
R PLA

N
SC

A
LE: 1/4" = 1'-0"

A
6

PRO
PO

SED
 LO

W
ER FLO

O
R PLA

N

V
A

LERIE HA
RT RESID

EN
TIA

L D
ESIG

N

3680 N
. RO

D
EO

 G
ULC

H RD
.SO

Q
UEL, C

A
  95073

(831) 239-1609    valerie95062@
yahoo.com

SHEET:
m

eserve resid
ence

511 escalona d
rive, capitola, ca 95010

apn: 036-125-02

PLA
N

N
IN

G
 SUBM

ITTA
L :

FEBRUA
RY 08, 2019

PLA
N

 C
HEC

K O
N

E:
M

A
Y 24, 2019

MESERVE RESIDENCEMESERVE RESIDENCE

A
RC

H &
 SITE C

O
M

M
EN

TS:
JULY 01, 2019

N

N
EW

 2x4 STUD
 W

A
LL

N
EW

 2x6 STUD
 W

A
LL

W
A

LL LEG
EN

D
EXISTIN

G
 STUD

 W
A

LL

12

2

6.A.1

Packet Pg. 60

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 5

11
 E

sc
al

o
n

a 
D

ri
ve

 -
 F

u
ll 

P
la

n
 S

et
 -

 0
7.

01
.2

01
9 

 (
51

1 
E

sc
al

o
n

a 
D

ri
ve

)



16'-91
2"

LIV
IN

G
 

RO
O

M
-

13'-10" X 10'-8"

BED
RO

O
M

 
-

12'-0" X 13'-3"

2'-9"

16'-91
2"

PA
RA

PET W
A

LL

LIN
EN

W
IN

E
REF.

B.I.

cab.
b.i.

M
A

STER
BED

RO
O

M
E

BED
RO

O
M

 
-

10'-5" X 10'-2"

W
ET

BA
R-

10'-10" X 8'-3"

BA
THRO

O
M

-
9'-3" X 5'-1"

D
O

W
N

14 R@
 7

1116 "
13 TR@

 11"

FLA
T RO

O
F

LIN
EN

2% SLOPE

(N
) SKYLIG

HT

(N
) SKYLIG

HT
(N

) SKYLIG
HT

(N
) SKYLIG

HT
(N

) SKYLIG
HT

39'-10" V
.I.F.

39'-10" V
.I.F.

M
A

IN
 A

REA
 O

F PRO
PO

SED
 W

O
RK

19'-11" 9'-4"

70'-11 12 "

(S 73°54'32" W)(B) (51.50')(A)

(S 29°58'00" E 104.31')

(N 60°02'00" E 50.00')

(S 29°58'00" E 116.63')

31'-1 12 "
39'-10"

12'-2 12 "
10'-8 12 "

2'-3 12 "
14'-7 12 "

7'-4 34 "
6'-2 14 "

5'-2 12 "

6' SECOND FLOOR SETBACK

7'-6" SEC
O

N
D

 FLO
O

R SETBA
C

K

20' UPPER FLOOR SETBACK

15'  C
O

RN
ER LO

T SEC
O

N
D

 FLO
O

R SETBA
C

K

RED
W

O
O

D
TRELLIS

RED
W

O
O

D
PERG

O
LA

8'-91
2"

15'-2"

23'-1 12 "
8'-0"

9'-91
4"

3'-3 12 "

D
RA

IN

                                                                 

                                                

 

PRO
PO

SED
 UPPER FLO

O
R PLA

N
SC

A
LE: 1/4" = 1'-0"

A
7

PRO
PO

SED
 UPPER FLO

O
R PLA

N

V
A

LERIE HA
RT RESID

EN
TIA

L D
ESIG

N

3680 N
. RO

D
EO

 G
ULC

H RD
.SO

Q
UEL, C

A
  95073

(831) 239-1609    valerie95062@
yahoo.com

SHEET:
m

eserve resid
ence

511 escalona d
rive, capitola, ca 95010

apn: 036-125-02

PLA
N

N
IN

G
 SUBM

ITTA
L :

FEBRUA
RY 08, 2019

PLA
N

 C
HEC

K O
N

E:
M

A
Y 24, 2019

MESERVE RESIDENCEMESERVE RESIDENCE

N

N
EW

 2x4 STUD
 W

A
LL

N
EW

 2x6 STUD
 W

A
LL

W
A

LL LEG
EN

D
EXISTIN

G
 STUD

 W
A

LL

1
N

O
TE: PRO

PERTY LIN
ES A

N
D

STRUC
TURA

L D
IM

EN
SIO

N
S SHO

W
N

1

6.A.1

Packet Pg. 61

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 5

11
 E

sc
al

o
n

a 
D

ri
ve

 -
 F

u
ll 

P
la

n
 S

et
 -

 0
7.

01
.2

01
9 

 (
51

1 
E

sc
al

o
n

a 
D

ri
ve

)



(N
) A

C
RYLIC

ELA
STO

M
ERIC

 RO
O

FIN
G

A
T A

REA
 O

F FLA
T RO

O
F

M
IN

. C
LA

SS 'B' RO
O

F W
ITH

15#
 FELT UN

D
ERLA

YM
EN

T

M
IN

. C
LA

SS 'B' RO
O

F W
ITH

15#
 FELT UN

D
ERLA

YM
EN

T

5: 125 : 12 1/4: 12

RED
W

O
O

D
 G

A
TE

A
N

D
 TRELLIS

RED
W

O
O

D
PERG

O
LA

(S 73°54'32" W)(B) (51.50')(A)

(S 29°58'00" E 104.31')

(N 60°02'00" E 50 00')

(S 29°58'00" E 116.63')

1/4 :12

D
RA

IN

47'-10"
A

REA
 O

F N
EW

 RO
O

F FRA
M

IN
G

37'-11"
(E) RO

O
F FRA

M
IN

G
 TO

 REM
A

IN

32'-111
2"

(E) ROOF FRAMING TO REMAIN

PA
RA

PET W
A

LL

22'-11"
AREA OF NEW ROOF FRAMING

5: 125 : 12

5: 12
5 : 12

5: 125 : 12

                                                                 

                                                

 

RO
O

F PLA
N

SC
A

LE: 1/4" = 1'-0"
A

8

 RO
O

F PLA
N

V
A

LERIE HA
RT RESID

EN
TIA

L D
ESIG

N

3680 N
. RO

D
EO

 G
ULC

H RD
.SO

Q
UEL, C

A
  95073

(831) 239-1609    valerie95062@
yahoo.com

SHEET:
m

eserve resid
ence

511 escalona d
rive, capitola, ca 95010

apn: 036-125-02

PLA
N

N
IN

G
 SUBM

ITTA
L :

FEBRUA
RY 08, 2019

PLA
N

 C
HEC

K O
N

E:
M

A
Y 24, 2019

MESERVE RESIDENCEMESERVE RESIDENCE

N

6.A.1

Packet Pg. 62

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 5

11
 E

sc
al

o
n

a 
D

ri
ve

 -
 F

u
ll 

P
la

n
 S

et
 -

 0
7.

01
.2

01
9 

 (
51

1 
E

sc
al

o
n

a 
D

ri
ve

)



REM
O

V
E (E) STUC

C
O

 A
N

D
REPLA

C
E W

ITH BO
A

RD
 A

N
D

BA
TTEN

 C
EM

EN
T FIBER SID

IN
G

M
IN

. G
RA

D
E "B" A

SHPHA
LT

C
O

M
PO

SITIO
N

 SHIN
G

LES TO
REPLA

C
E C

O
N

C
RETE TILES

PREV
IO

USLY REPLA
C

ED
STUC

C
O

 FRO
M

 PERM
IT

B-20190165

(N
) RED

W
O

O
D

PERG
O

LA
(N

) RED
W

O
O

D
 G

A
TE

C
EM

EN
T FIBER BO

A
RD

A
N

D
 BA

TTEN
 SID

IN
G

M
IN

. G
RA

D
E "B" A

SHPHA
LT

C
O

M
PO

SITIO
N

 SHIN
G

LES TO
REPLA

C
E C

O
N

C
RETE TILE (TYP.)

PA
IN

TED
 W

O
O

D
 TRIM

M
ILG

A
RD

 "ESSEN
C

E"
FIBERG

LA
SS

W
IN

D
O

W
S &

 D
O

O
RS

REPLA
C

E A
N

D
 REPA

IR (E)
STUC

C
O

 SID
IN

G
 TO

M
A

TC
H STUC

C
O

 FRO
M

PERM
IT B-20190165

B.O
. FLO

O
R JO

ISTS

T.O
. SUBFLO

O
R 

T.O
. PLA

TE

6'-0" X 4'-6" W
IN

D
O

W
S - HEA

D
ER HEIG

HT
A

T 8'-0". W
IN

D
O

W
 SILL A

T 42" A
.F.F.,

M
EETIN

G
 EG

RESS

T.O
.SLA

B

B.O
. FLO

O
R JO

ISTS

T.O
. SUBFLO

O
R 

T.O
. PLA

TE

                                                                 

                                                

 

PRO
PO

SED
 ELEV

A
TIO

N
S

SC
A

LE: 1/4" = 1'-0"
A

9

PRO
PO

SED
 N

O
RTH ELEV

A
TIO

N

PRO
PO

SED
 W

EST ELEV
A

TIO
N

V
A

LERIE HA
RT RESID

EN
TIA

L D
ESIG

N

3680 N
. RO

D
EO

 G
ULC

H RD
.SO

Q
UEL, C

A
  95073

(831) 239-1609    valerie95062@
yahoo.com

SHEET:
m

eserve resid
ence

511 escalona d
rive, capitola, ca 95010

apn: 036-125-02

PLA
N

N
IN

G
 SUBM

ITTA
L :

FEBRUA
RY 08, 2019

PLA
N

 C
HEC

K O
N

E:
M

A
Y 24, 2019

MESERVE RESIDENCEMESERVE RESIDENCE

A
RC

H &
 SITE C

O
M

M
EN

TS:
JULY 01, 2019

PRO
PO

SED
 N

O
RTH ELEV

A
TIO

N
 A

T C
O

RRID
O

R

2

2

6.A.1

Packet Pg. 63

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 5

11
 E

sc
al

o
n

a 
D

ri
ve

 -
 F

u
ll 

P
la

n
 S

et
 -

 0
7.

01
.2

01
9 

 (
51

1 
E

sc
al

o
n

a 
D

ri
ve

)



T.O
.SLA

B

B.O
. FLO

O
R JO

ISTS

T.O
. SUBFLO

O
R 

T.O
. PLA

TE

12
5

T.O
.SLA

B

B.O
. FLO

O
R JO

ISTS

T.O
. SUBFLO

O
R 

T.O
. PLA

TE

                                                                 

                                                

 

PRO
PO

SED
 ELEV

A
TIO

N
S

SC
A

LE: 1/4" = 1'-0"
A

10

PRO
PO

SED
 EA

ST ELEV
A

TIO
N

PRO
PO

SED
 SO

UTH ELEV
A

TIO
N

V
A

LERIE HA
RT RESID

EN
TIA

L D
ESIG

N

3680 N
. RO

D
EO

 G
ULC

H RD
.SO

Q
UEL, C

A
  95073

(831) 239-1609    valerie95062@
yahoo.com

SHEET:
m

eserve resid
ence

511 escalona d
rive, capitola, ca 95010

apn: 036-125-02

PLA
N

N
IN

G
 SUBM

ITTA
L :

FEBRUA
RY 08, 2019

PLA
N

 C
HEC

K O
N

E:
M

A
Y 24, 2019

MESERVE RESIDENCEMESERVE RESIDENCE

A
RC

H &
 SITE C

O
M

M
EN

TS:
JULY 01, 2019

PRO
PO

SED
 SO

UTH ELEV
A

TIO
N

 A
T C

O
RRID

O
R

2

2

2

6.A.1

Packet Pg. 64

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 5

11
 E

sc
al

o
n

a 
D

ri
ve

 -
 F

u
ll 

P
la

n
 S

et
 -

 0
7.

01
.2

01
9 

 (
51

1 
E

sc
al

o
n

a 
D

ri
ve

)



3'-11"

2'-5"

5'-51
4"

4'-11
2"

5'-51
4"

5'-51
4"

STUC
C

O
 N

O
N

-RETA
IN

IN
G

 W
A

LL

STUC
C

O
 N

O
N

-RETA
IN

IN
G

 W
A

LL
STUC

C
O

 N
O

N
-RETA

IN
IN

G
 W

A
LL

5'-51
2"

5'-51
2"

4'-11
2"

2'-5"

                                                                 

                                                

 

PRO
PO

SED
 ELEV

A
TIO

N
S- SITE W

A
LL

SC
A

LE: 1/4" = 1'-0"

PRO
PO

SED
 N

O
RTH ELEV

A
TIO

N

PRO
PO

SED
 W

EST ELEV
A

TIO
N

V
A

LERIE HA
RT RESID

EN
TIA

L D
ESIG

N

3680 N
. RO

D
EO

 G
ULC

H RD
.SO

Q
UEL, C

A
  95073

(831) 239-1609    valerie95062@
yahoo.com

SHEET:
m

eserve resid
ence

511 escalona d
rive, capitola, ca 95010

apn: 036-125-02

PLA
N

N
IN

G
 SUBM

ITTA
L :

FEBRUA
RY 08, 2019

PLA
N

 C
HEC

K O
N

E:
M

A
Y 24, 2019

MESERVE RESIDENCEMESERVE RESIDENCE

6.A.2

Packet Pg. 65

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 5

11
 E

sc
al

o
n

a 
D

ri
ve

 -
 W

al
l E

le
va

ti
o

n
s 

fo
r 

M
aj

o
r 

R
ev

o
ca

b
le

 E
n

cr
o

ac
h

m
en

t 
P

er
m

it
 -

 L
et

te
r 

 (
51

1 
E

sc
al

o
n

a 
D

ri
ve

)



511 Escalona Drive 
Capitola, CA 95010 

Design Permit: #19-0165 

 

Construction Cost Breakdown 

 
Existing Building Costs: 

Existing Residence:    1,225 sq.ft. @ $200/ sq.ft. =  $245,000 
Existing Office:          430 sq.ft. @ $200/sq.ft. =   $86,000 
Existing Workshop:            680 sq.ft. @  $90/sq.ft.=   $61,200 
Existing Garage:            772 sq.ft. @ $90/sq.ft.=   $64,980 

Total Existing Value:  $457,180 

80% of total Existing Value: $365,744 

 

New Construction Costs 

New conditioned space:   949 sq.ft. @ $200/ sq.ft. =  $189,800 
New garage:           0 sq.ft. @ $200/sq.ft. =   n/a 
New deck:          229 sq.ft. @  $25/sq.ft.=   $5,725 

Remodel Costs 

Remodel conditioned space:  700 sq.ft. @ $100/ sq.ft. =  $70,000 
Remodel garage:             32 sq.ft. @ $45/sq.ft. =   $1,445 
 
 

 

 

Total Construction/Remodel Cost:  $266,970 (58%) 

 

6.A.3

Packet Pg. 66

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 5

11
 E

sc
al

o
n

a 
D

ri
ve

 -
 8

0 
P

er
ce

n
t 

N
o

n
co

n
fo

rm
in

g
 C

al
cu

la
ti

o
n

  (
51

1 
E

sc
al

o
n

a 
D

ri
ve

)


	Agenda Packet
	1. Roll Call and Pledge of Allegiance
	2. Oral Communications
	A. Additions and Deletions to Agenda
	B. Public Comments
	C. Commission Comments
	D. Staff Comments

	3. Presentations
	A. Administrative Policy on Social Media Use By City Counicl and Advisory Body Members
	Printout: Administrative Policy on Social Media Use By City Counicl and Advisory Body Members
	1. I-18 Council & Committee Use of Social Media
	2. V-8 Councilmember On-Line Forums Web Logs (Blogs)


	4. Approval of Minutes
	A. Minutes of Jun 6, 2019 7:00 PM
	Printout: Minutes of Jun 6, 2019 7:00 PM


	5. Consent Calendar
	A. 2195 41st Avenue
	Printout: 2195 41st Avenue
	1. 2195 41st Avenue - Sign Plans


	6. Public Hearings
	A. 511 Escalona Drive
	Printout: 511 Escalona Drive
	1. 511 Escalona Drive - Full Plan Set - 07.01.2019
	2. 511 Escalona Drive - Wall Elevations for Major Revocable Encroachment Permit - Letter
	3. 511 Escalona Drive - 80 Percent Nonconforming Calculation


	7. Director's Report
	8. Commission Communications
	9. Adjournment

	Appendix
	3.A · Administrative Policy on Social Media Use By City Counicl and Advisory Body Members
	3.A.1 · I-18 Council & Committee Use of Social Media
	3.A.2 · V-8 Councilmember On-Line Forums Web Logs (Blogs)

	4.A · Minutes of Jun 6, 2019 7:00 PM
	5.A · 2195 41st Avenue
	5.A.1 · 2195 41st Avenue - Sign Plans

	6.A · 511 Escalona Drive
	6.A.1 · 511 Escalona Drive - Full Plan Set - 07.01.2019
	6.A.2 · 511 Escalona Drive - Wall Elevations for Major Revocable Encroachment Permit - Letter
	6.A.3 · 511 Escalona Drive - 80 Percent Nonconforming Calculation



